South Dakota State University

Open PRAIRIE: Open Public Research Access Institutional Repository and Information Exchange

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

2018

Measuring the Influence of Bedding on Soil Nitrogen Losses and Corn Crop Nitrogen Characteristics for Fall Applied Solid Beef Cattle Manure in Eastern South Dakota

Mukesh Mehata South Dakota State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://openprairie.sdstate.edu/etd

Part of the Agricultural Science Commons, Agriculture Commons, and the Bioresource and Agricultural Engineering Commons

Recommended Citation

Mehata, Mukesh, "Measuring the Influence of Bedding on Soil Nitrogen Losses and Corn Crop Nitrogen Characteristics for Fall Applied Solid Beef Cattle Manure in Eastern South Dakota" (2018). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. 2437. https://openprairie.sdstate.edu/etd/2437

This Thesis - Open Access is brought to you for free and open access by Open PRAIRIE: Open Public Research Access Institutional Repository and Information Exchange. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Open PRAIRIE: Open Public Research Access Institutional Repository and Information Exchange. For more information, please contact michael.biondo@sdstate.edu.

MEASURING THE INFLUENCE OF BEDDING ON SOIL NITROGEN LOSSES AND CORN CROP NITROGEN CHARACTERISTICS FOR FALL APPLIED SOLID BEEF CATTLE MANURE IN EASTERN SOUTH DAKOTA

BY MUKESH MEHATA

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the

Master of Science

Major in Agricultural and Biosystems Engineering

South Dakota State University

2018

MEASURING THE INFLUENCE OF BEDDING ON SOIL NITROGEN LOSSES AND CORN CROP NITROGEN CHARACTERISTICS FOR FALL APPLIED SOLID BEEF CATTLE MANURE IN EASTERN SOUTH DAKOTA

MUKESH MEHATA

This thesis is approved as a creditable and independent investigation by a candidate for the Master of Science in Agricultural and Biosystems Engineering degree and is acceptable for meeting the thesis requirements for the degree. Acceptance of this thesis does not imply that the conclusion reached by the candidate are necessarily the conclusion of the major department.

Erin L. Cortus, Ph.D. Thesis Advisor Date

Van Kelley, Ph.D.' Date Head, Department of Agricy/Itural and Biosystems Engineering

Death, Graduate School

Date '

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

It is my pleasure to thank the roles of several individuals who were instrumental in the completion of my Master's research.

First of all, I would like to express my warmest gratitude to my advisor Dr. Erin Cortus for believing and giving me a good platform to start my career in the USA. This thesis would not be possible without her continuous support and guidance throughout this research work. I would like to thank Dr. Cortus for her enthusiastic encouragement, patience, motivation, and useful critiques of this research work.

Next, I am very thankful to my research committee members Dr. Joseph Darrington (Major Advisor) and Dr. Sergio Martinez Monteagudo for their valuable contributions to my program.

I give thanks to Dr. Liming Lai and Mr. Suresh Niraula for sample analysis assistance. Additional thanks to the Agricultural and Biosystems Engineering Department for providing materials and support for collection of field data. I wish to thank my colleagues Suraiya and Bryce for their support and help.

I am grateful to the National Institute of Food and Agriculture (NIFA) for funding this research.

Finally, I would like to express my gratitude to my family, especially my parents. Without their support, unconditional love, and motivation it would not be possible.

iii

ABBREVIATIONS
LIST OF TABLES ix
LIST OF FIGURES ix
ABSTRACTxi
CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION
1.1 Background
1.2 Objectives
CHAPTER 2 LITERATURE REVIEW
2.1 The role of manure and urea in the nitrogen cycle
2.1.1 Ammonia loss through volatilization
2.1.2 Nitrous oxide loss
2.1.3 Nitrate leaching
2.1.4 Surface runoff and soil erosion
2.1.5 Crop nutrient uptake and nutrient removal
2.2 Impact of manure (with or without bedding) and inorganic fertilizer
2.2.1 Ammonia volatilization
2.2.2 Nitrous oxide flux
2.2.3 Nitrate leaching
2.2.4 Crop nitrogen and yield
2.3 Overview of conservation practices that affect manure and/or urea in the nitrogen cycle 18
2.4 Summary
CHAPTER 3 SOIL NITRATE, SOIL WATER NITRATE CONCENTRATION, CROP
NITROGEN, AND YIELD FOR FALL APPLIED SOLID MANURE (WITH AND
WITHOUT BEDDING) AND INORGANIC FERTILIZER FOR CORN PRODUCTION
NEAR BROOKINGS, SOUTH DAKOTA

TABLE OF CONTENTS

3.1 Introduction	24
3.2 Materials and methods	
3.2.1 Sites description	
3.2.2 Treatment and experimental setup	
3.2.3 Sample collection and analysis	
3.2.4 Statistical analysis	
3.3 Results and discussions	
3.3.1 Total soil nitrate	
3.3.2 Soil water nitrate concentration	
3.3.3 Leaf nitrogen concentration	
3.3.4 Grain nitrogen and corn yield	
3.4 Conclusions	
CHAPTER 4 AMMONIA AND NITROUS OXIDE FLUXES FOR FALL A	PPLIED
SOLID MANURE (WITH AND WITHOUT BEDDING) AND INORGANIC	C
SOLID MANURE (WITH AND WITHOUT BEDDING) AND INORGANIC FERTILIZER FOR CORN PRODUCTION NEAR BROOKINGS, SOUTH I	C DAKOTA40
SOLID MANURE (WITH AND WITHOUT BEDDING) AND INORGANIC FERTILIZER FOR CORN PRODUCTION NEAR BROOKINGS, SOUTH I 4.1 Introduction	C DAKOTA40 41
SOLID MANURE (WITH AND WITHOUT BEDDING) AND INORGANIC FERTILIZER FOR CORN PRODUCTION NEAR BROOKINGS, SOUTH I 4.1 Introduction	C DAKOTA40 41 43
SOLID MANURE (WITH AND WITHOUT BEDDING) AND INORGANIC FERTILIZER FOR CORN PRODUCTION NEAR BROOKINGS, SOUTH I 4.1 Introduction	C DAKOTA40 41 43 43
SOLID MANURE (WITH AND WITHOUT BEDDING) AND INORGANIC FERTILIZER FOR CORN PRODUCTION NEAR BROOKINGS, SOUTH I 4.1 Introduction	C DAKOTA40 41 43 43 44
 SOLID MANURE (WITH AND WITHOUT BEDDING) AND INORGANIC FERTILIZER FOR CORN PRODUCTION NEAR BROOKINGS, SOUTH I 4.1 Introduction	C DAKOTA40 41 43 43 43 44 44
SOLID MANURE (WITH AND WITHOUT BEDDING) AND INORGANIC FERTILIZER FOR CORN PRODUCTION NEAR BROOKINGS, SOUTH I 4.1 Introduction	C DAKOTA40 41 43 43 43 44 44 46 48
SOLID MANURE (WITH AND WITHOUT BEDDING) AND INORGANIC FERTILIZER FOR CORN PRODUCTION NEAR BROOKINGS, SOUTH I 4.1 Introduction	C DAKOTA40 41 43 43 43 44 44 46 48 49
SOLID MANURE (WITH AND WITHOUT BEDDING) AND INORGANIC FERTILIZER FOR CORN PRODUCTION NEAR BROOKINGS, SOUTH I 4.1 Introduction	C DAKOTA40 41 43 43 43 44 46 48 49 49 49
SOLID MANURE (WITH AND WITHOUT BEDDING) AND INORGANIC FERTILIZER FOR CORN PRODUCTION NEAR BROOKINGS, SOUTH I 4.1 Introduction	C DAKOTA40 41 43 43 43 44 46 46 48 49 49 49 49
SOLID MANURE (WITH AND WITHOUT BEDDING) AND INORGANIO FERTILIZER FOR CORN PRODUCTION NEAR BROOKINGS, SOUTH I 4.1 Introduction	C DAKOTA40 41 43 43 43 44 44 46 48 49 49 49 49 49 49 49 49 49

4.4 Conclusions	58
CHAPTER 5 DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS	59
5.1 Summary	59
5.2 Lesson learned from this research and future work	60
REFERENCES	62

ABBREVIATIONS

AIC	Akaike's Information Criteria
cm	Centimeter
d	day
g	gram
μg	micro-gram
kg	kilogram
in.	inch
ft.	feet
h	hours
ha	Hectares
in.	inch
Inc.	Incorporated
KCL	Potassium Chloride
m	Meters
mL	milliliter
max	Maximum
min	Minimum
Mg	Mega gram

Mm	millimeter
Ν	Nitrogen
NH ₃	Ammonia
NH ₄	Ammonium
NO ₃	Nitrate
N ₂ O	Nitrous Oxide
Oct.	October
SE	Standard Error
SAS	Statistical Analysis Software
SD	South Dakota
SDSU	South Dakota State University
TAN	Total Ammoniacal Nitrogen
USA	United States of America
USEPA	United States Environmental Protection Agency
СО	Colorado

LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.1 Application rate and physical characteristics of manure and urea fertilizers for
experiment site at South Dakota Felt Farm, Brookings, South Dakota
Table 3.2 Mean $(\pm SE^{[y]})$ of total soil nitrate for four Treatments with Year by Growth
Stage
Table 3.3 Mean (\pm SE ^[y]) of soil water leachate nitrate (NO ₃ ⁻ -N) concentration for four
Treatments for Year 1 and Year 2
Table 3.4 Mean ($SE^{[y]} = 0.14$) leaf N% for four Treatments for Year 1 and Year 2 36
Table 3.5 Mean (±SE) ^[y] grain-N and corn yield for four Treatments for Year 1
Table 4.1 Average ammonia fluxes (g ha ⁻¹ h ⁻¹) after nitrgoen application for the four
Treatments based on sampling day (Time) for Year 1 and Year 2 52
Table 4.2 Average nitrous oxide fluxes ($\mu g N_2 O-N m^{-2} h^{-1}$) after nitrgoen application for

the four Treatments based on sampling day (Time) for Year 1 and Year 2..... 55

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1 The nitrogen cycle (Lamb et al., 2014)7
Figure 3.1 Mean total soil nitrate and standard error (vertical lines) for four treatments
over corn growing season. (MB, MO, UO, and NF are solid beef cattle manure
with bedding, solid beef cattle manure only, urea only, and no-fertilizer
treatments, respectively, whereas different letters above the bars indicate
significant differences (P < 0.05))
Figure 3.2 Mean total soil nitrate with standard error (vertical lines) for Year by Growth Stage. (Different letters above the bars indicate significant differences (P <
0.05))
Figure 3.3 Mean leaf-N concentraton with standard error (vertical lines) for Year 1 37
Figure 4.1 Layout of the experimental site at the South Dakota State University Felt Farm
(Brookings County)

Figure 4.2 Minimum and maximum daily air temperature with daily precipitation from	
Oct. 2015 to Oct. 2016 (Year 1). The first arrow indicates the N application	
day, whereas second arrow represents the day of planting	50

Figure 4.4	4 Average soil ammonia flux with standard error (vertical lines) from solid bee	f
	cattle manure with bedding (MB), solid beef cattle manure only (MO), urea	
	only, and no-fertilizer (NF) treatments for two corn growing seasons (2015/16	5
	and 2016/17). The letters above the bars denote the Least Squared-Means	
	differences at P < 0.05	53

Figure 4.5 Average soil nitrous oxide flux with standard error (vertical lines) from solid
beef cattle manure with bedding (MB), solid beef cattle manure only (MO),
urea only, and no-fertilizer (NF) treatments for two corn growing seasons
(2015/16 and 2016/17). The letters above the bars denote the least square
means differences at $P < 0.05$

ABSTRACT

MEASURING THE INFLUENCE OF BEDDING ON SOIL NITROGEN LOSSES AND CORN CROP NITROGEN CHARACTERISTICS FOR FALL APPLIED SOLID BEEF CATTLE MANURE IN EASTERN SOUTH DAKOTA

MUKESH MEHATA

2018

Nitrogen (N) is a major component of chlorophyll which plays a key role in the photosynthesis process in crops. The N is one of the highest demanded nutrients by all plants for their growth and reproduction. Manure or inorganic fertilizer is often applied to fulfill the crops' N demand. However, the applied N sources have the potential of N losses in different forms from the soil volume in many ways such as ammonia (NH₃) volatilization, aerial nitrous oxide (N_2O) loss, nitrate ($NO_3^{-}-N$) leaching, and runoff and/or erosion. Soil fertility, crop yield, water quality, and air quality can be reduced by excessive N losses from the soil volume. The goal of this study was to understand the effect of fall-applied solid beef manure with bedding on nitrogen movement and transformations during corn production. The objectives of the research were to measure the N losses (NH₃, N₂O, and soil water NO₃⁻-N concentration) from the soil for fallapplied N and corn production, then compare the impact of applied N form (solid beef cattle manure with bedding (MB), solid beef cattle manure only (MO), urea only (UO) and no-fertilizer (NF)), in Brookings County, SD. The methods for collecting samples for soil N losses were semi-static open chambers for NH₃ flux, static chambers for N₂O flux, and suction lysimeters for soil water. The applied N were 130 and 184 kg ha⁻¹ in Year 1 and Year 2, respectively. The studied showed the average (±SE) soil NO₃⁻-N for UO (105 \pm 9 kg ha⁻¹) was significantly higher than the remaining treatments; soil NO₃⁻-N was 72

and 65 kg ha⁻¹ for manure treatments MB and MO, respectively. The average (\pm SE) total soil NO₃⁻-N for Year 1 (83 \pm 6 kg ha⁻¹) was significantly higher than Year 2 (67 \pm 5 kg ha^{-1}). However, the average total soil NO₃⁻-N at Pre-plant stage was significantly higher than V6 and Postharvest stages in both years. The study results did not show any significant difference in total soil NO₃⁻-N due to interaction of Treatment and Growth Stage. Furthermore, the average NH_3 flux, and N_2O flux were significantly affected by treatments. The highest N₂O flux was produced by the UO ($79.0 \pm 24.9 \ \mu g \ m^{-2} \ h^{-1}$) plots, whereas the flux released from MB was $49.0 \pm 15.1 \,\mu\text{g} \,\text{m}^{-2} \,\text{h}^{-1}$ and for MO it was $33.3 \pm$ 10.3 μ g m⁻² h⁻¹. The N₂O flux obtained from UO was significantly higher than NF, while MB and MO-produced N₂O fluxes were not significantly different than neither UO nor NF. The highest NH₃ flux occurred from the MB treatment, which was 3.4 ± 0.9 g ha⁻¹ h⁻ ¹, however this flux was only significantly different than NF. The NH₃ fluxes from UO and MO were not significantly different than MB and NF. The average (\pm SE) N₂O and NH₃ fluxes for control (NF) were 25 (\pm 8) µg m⁻² h⁻¹ and 1.4 (\pm 0.4) g ha⁻¹ h⁻¹, respectively. The average soil water NO₃⁻-N concentration was not significantly different among the treatments (P < 0.05). The average soil water NO₃⁻-N concentration was significantly greater in Year 1 (12.5 \pm 2.0 mg L⁻¹) compared to Year 2 (6.5 \pm 2.0 mg L⁻¹). Crop N characteristics such as leaf-N and grain-N tended to be different (P < 0.1) among treatments, with a higher N concentration in UO-treated plots. The corn yield was not significantly affected by treatment in Year 1 (the only year measured). The study aids the understanding of soil N losses via various paths and the effect of fall-applied solid manure with or without bedding on soil N losses and N transformations. Overall, the data obtained from our study will be used in model application purposes, which will help to

further understand the factors and processes affecting nutrient transformations and losses during corn production with beef cattle manure.

CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background

Nitrogen (N) is a critical nutrient in the respiration, metabolism, growth, and reproduction systems for plants (Dinnes et al., 2002; Follett and Hatfield, 2001; Ohyama, 2010). Also, N is a major component of chlorophyll, which helps to convert light energy into chemical energy in the photosynthesis process (Havlin et al., 2005). About 78% (by volume) of the atmosphere is N, but it is in inert gas form and not directly available for the plants (Follett and Hatfield, 2001; Havlin et al., 2005; Ohyama, 2010). Nitrogen is found in various forms in soil, such as organic matter, soil organisms and microorganisms, ammonium-N, nitrite-N, and nitrate-N (Bremner, 1965a; Cameron et al., 2013; Lamb et al., 2014). However, the proportion of N in soil is only about 0.1 to 0.6% in the top 15 cm of soil, depending on the soil type (Bremner, 1965b; Cameron et al., 2013). Hence, additional N input is required to fullfill crop N requirements. Between 1950 and 2000, world grain production increased three times from 631 to 1840 million tons due to a significant contribution of N fertilizer (Mosier and Syers, 2004). As the world population continues to increase, crop production must also increase, but there is limited arable land to fulfill the demand (Mosier and Syers, 2004). Increasing crop production in the limited arable land is only possible if N fertilizers are used efficiently while minimizing negative impacts in the surrounding environment (Cassman et al., 2002; Mosier and Syers, 2004; van Grinsven et al., 2015).

Soil and plants gain N from various sources like biological and atmospheric fixation, direct addition of manure and commercial fertilizers, crop residue, and animal

tissues (Hoos et al., 2000; Lamb et al., 2014; Petrovic, 1990; Vitousek et al., 1997). The rate of N uptake depends on crop types, soil properties, and weather factors (Ohyama, 2010; Provin and Hossner, 2001). However, not all the forms of N are usable for plants. Mainly two inorganic forms of N in soil, nitrate-N (NO₃⁻-N) and ammonium-N (NH₄⁺-N), can be used by plants via the roots. Organic matter N may covert to usable forms of N through mineralization (Havlin et al., 2005; Robertson and Groffman, 2007). Soil microorganisms play an important role to break down or transform the organic matter N to NO₃⁻-N and NH₄⁺-N form of N (Hart et al., 1994; Schimel and Bennett, 2004).

Soil N is a very important nutrient for crop production, however, nitrogen can be potentially lost from the soil when manure and N fertilizers sources are over-applied or mismanaged (Dinnes et al., 2002; Hatfield and Cambardella, 2001). Soil N can be lost via various processes such as volatilization, denitrification, leaching, runoff, and erosion (Lamb et al., 2014; Loecke et al., 2004; Miller et al., 2009; Paramasivam et al., 2009). Human activities in the agricultural sector are often responsible for potential soil N losses which may pollute air or water quality (EPA, 2006). Globally, in 2005, about 60% of N₂O emission was from agriculture due to anthropogenic activities (IPCC, 2007). Nitrous oxide loss to the atmosphere contrbutes to global warming as well as depletion of the ozone layer (Bouwman et al., 2001; EPA, 2013). Similarly, 20 to 50% of total agricultural ammonia (NH₃) loss is from land applied organic fertilizers (Sintermann et al., 2012; Sommer and Hutchings, 2001). Ammonia is an important environmental pollutant which has had a wide variety of impacts such as soil acidification, acid rainfall, eutrophication of ecosystem (International Fertilizer Industry Association, 2001). Also, when ammonia is released from the soil surface to atmosphere, it reacts with atmospheric

gases such as sulfur dioxide or nitrogen oxides (in the presence of water) to form particulate matter less than 2.5 micrometers that is very harmful for human and animal health, and the environment (Bittman et al., 2014; Hodan and Barnard, 2004). Nitrate-N loss via leaching can vary from 5 to 50% of applied N depending on crop type, soil properties, N rate, and climatic condition (Sainju, 2017). The loss of NO₃⁻-N from agricultural soil is a major contributor for building a dead zone or hypoxia condition in the Gulf of Mexico (Daigh et al., 2015; Goolsby and Battaglin, 2000; Goolsby et al., 2001). The United States Environmental Protection Agency (US-EPA) has set the maximum level of NO₃⁻-N concentration to not exceed 10 mg NO₃⁻-N L⁻¹ in drinking water (US-EPA, 2002). Therefore, in agriculture, appropriate management practices are required to improve N use efficiency for crops and reduce N losses to the environment.

Various management practices mitigate soil N losses and increase N use efficiency in the soil (Piccini et al., 2016; Shaviv and Mikkelsen, 1993; Tilman et al., 2002). Soil N losses can be minimized by implementing different strategies such as appropriate N application at appropriate time, reducing tillage, crop rotation, using soil tests and plant monitoring, and improving N application technique (Ahmed et al., 2013; Dinnes et al., 2002; Jokela and Randall, 1989; Mallarino and Wittry, 2010; Smith et al., 2007; van Grinsven et al., 2015). Also, integration of these management strategies and plant breeding with higher N use efficiency may contribute to sustainable agriculture systems which may protect and improve soil, water, and air quality (Baligar et al., 2001). Appropriate rates of feedlot manure with bedding application practice may increase soil organic matter, nutrient contents, and improve soil quality and soil productivity (Amiri and Fallahi, 2009; DeLuca and DeLuca, 1997). Bedding is generally used on animal farms for animal comfort, to reduce animal injury, and aid in manure handling (Bey et al., 2002; Smith and Hogan, 2006). Manure types, bedding types, and application rate of organic amendments can influence N and phosphorus (P) uptake, and soil physical properties such as water flow and water holding capacity compared to inorganic fertlizer (Airaksinen et al., 2001; Miller et al., 2010; Miller et al., 2014; Miller et al., 2009). Miller et al. (2010) found that soil inorganic N, soil P, and soil mineralizable N were significantly affected by manure, but the effects changed with year or bedding or rate of application or their interactions. However, bedding with rich carbon content manure can immobilize N temporarily in the soil, delaying the release of plant-usable forms of N (Crohn, 2004). Later, when microbes decompose carbon, they utilize carbon to generate energy to grow and reproduce and those microbes help N mineralization in the soil (Crohn, 2004). This research will explore the influence of bedded and bedded solid manure on soil nitrate, N losses, crop characteristics (leaf-N and grain-N), and yield.

1.2 Objectives

The overall goal of this research was to measure the influence of bedding on soil N losses and corn crop N characteristics (leaf-N, grain-N and yield) for fall-applied solid beef cattle manure in Eastern South Dakota. The specific objectives were:

(1) To determine the impact of fall-applied bedded and non-bedded solid beef cattle manure, and urea fertilizer on total soil nitrate-N, soil water nitrate-N concentration, crop N and yield.

(2) To assess the influence of solid beef cattle manure with bedding application on soil fluxes of ammonia (NH_3) and nitrous oxide (N_2O) following manure application and during the growing season.

CHAPTER 2 LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 The role of manure and urea in the nitrogen cycle

Nitrogen (N) in soil transforms into various forms through biological and physical processes (Bierman and Rosen, 2005; Follett and Hatfield, 2001; Lamb et al., 2014). The soil-N cycle shows how the various forms of N move in or out of the soil system (Figure 2.1; Lamb et al., 2014). Nitrogen compounds can be classified into two groups: reactive N and nonreactive N (Follett, 2008). Both groups exist in nature in equilibrium through the balanced process of the N cycle. Nonreactive N includes inert N₂ gas and organic N, whereas reactive N includes all inorganic N forms (Follett et al., 2010; Galloway et al., 2008). Most N in the soil is tied up in organic matter which resists being consumed by plants. However, soil microorganisms present in the soil break down the organic forms of N into the plant usable forms (nitrate (NO_3^-)) and ammonium (NH_4^+)) (Havlin et al., 2005; Johnson et al., 2005). Plants uptake the available forms of N from soil via their roots system; however, N uptake depends on plant age and type, environment, and other factors (Havlin et al., 2005).



Figure 2.1 The nitrogen cycle (Lamb et al., 2014)

The main N inputs to the soil for plant growth are symbiotic or non-symbiotic fixation, atmospheric fixation, application of animal manure and commercial fertilizer, plant residue, and soil organic matter (Bierman and Rosen, 2005; Follett and Hatfield, 2001; Lamb et al., 2014). Manure applied to the soil contains both reactive N (NH₄⁺) and nonreactive N (organic N) (Ketterings et al., 2005). Organic N cannot be used by crops until it converts into inorganic N forms (NH₄⁺ or NO₃⁻). The soil microbes present in the soil convert organic forms of N into the inorganic N by the mineralization process (Follett, 2008; Havlin et al., 2005; Shober, 2015).

A common form of commercial fertilizer is urea. Urea is hydrolyzed by the enzymatic action of urease, a common enzyme found in soil systems (Mobley and Hausinger, 1989) to ammonia (NH₃), which dissociates in water to exist in equilibrium with NH_4^+ . The NH_4^+ is a usable N form for crops. Higher soil pH (>7) favors NH_3 ,

which can be lost to the atmosphere via volatilization (Follett et al., 2010; Follett and Hatfield, 2001; Havlin et al., 2005).

Many human-driven activities such as burning fossil fuels (including burning forests and burning grasslands) and application of N-based fertilizer have a significant impact on the N cycle because these activities can highly increase N in an ecosystem (Bernhard, 2010; Vitousek et al., 1997). Over application or mismanagement of both manure and/or urea in the soil can result in N loss as gaseous or nitrate forms to the environment (Dinnes et al., 2002; Hatfield and Cambardella, 2001). Also, the deposition of reactive N by burning fossil fuels and biomass, application of N, and natural sources of nitrogen oxide (lightening and biogenic soil emissions) may fertilize both terrestrial and marine ecosystems that enhance the carbon storage (carbon sequestration) (Galloway et al., 1994; Maaroufi et al., 2015). The losses of N from the soil volume by volatilization, nitrification or denitrification, leaching, or runoff/erosion may create a problem for the ecosystem. The loss mechanisms are described below (Section 2.1.1 to 2.1.5), and the impacts of these losses are described in Section 2.2.

2.1.1 Ammonia loss through volatilization

In the soil solution, total ammoniacal nitrogen (TAN) compounds NH_3 and NH_4^+ exist in equilibrium dependent on pH. The NH_4^+ is stable in solution, but NH_3 ions are subject to loss as a gas to the atmosphere (Equation. 2.1) (Follett, 1995; Follett, 2008).

$$NH_4^+ + OH^- \rightleftharpoons NH_3 + H_2O \tag{2.1}$$

Soil pH and TAN concentration are important factors which control the magnitude of NH₃ loss to the atmosphere (Follett, 1995). The rate of NH₃ volatilization

increases with high soil pH (>7) and high soil temperatures because both factors increase the relative amount of NH₃ concentration in the soil solution (Follett, 1995; Jones et al., 2007; Stevenson and Cole, 1999).

In neutral or acidic soil, NH₃ loss is low for NH₄⁺-containing fertilizer (e.g., ammonium nitrate, ammonium sulfate, ammonium phosphate, etc.) compared to NH₄⁺. forming fertilizer (e.g. anhydrous ammonia, aqua ammonia, urea, etc which can form ammonium ion (NH₄⁺) after reacting with water) because soil solution pH is not increased while adding NH₄⁺ fertilizer (Havlin et al., 2005). However, NH₄⁺ -forming fertilizers (urea or urea-containing fertilizer) increase soil solution pH during the hydrolysis reaction (Havlin et al., 2005). The amount of NH₃ loss is also affected by cation excahnage capacity (CEC) (loss is higher in soil of low CEC), soil moisture, soil organic matter, environmental conditions (temperature, wind speed, and precipitation), and management practices (types of N sources, timing and mode of N application, tillage practices) (Al-Kanani and MacKenzie, 1992; Bouwman et al., 1997; Jones et al., 2013; Jones et al., 2007; Ribaudo et al., 2011; Stevenson and Cole, 1999).

2.1.2 Nitrous oxide loss

Farmlands are considered a major source of N₂O (Rotz et al., 2012). Nitrification and denitrification are both microbial transformation processes and are responsible for N₂O release from the soil (Andreae and Schimel, 1990; Bremner, 1997; Maag and Vinther, 1996; Rotz et al., 2012). Nitrification is the conversion of ammonium (NH₄⁺) into nitrate (NO₃⁻) by microbial oxidation and is an aerobic process. Nitric oxide (NO) and N₂O are intermediates in this process (Rotz et al., 2012). Denitrification occurs in soil under anaerobic condition, where the microbial reduction produces NO₂, NO, and N_2O as intermediates while converting NO_3^- to N_2 (Havlin et al., 2005; Mosier and Klemedtsson, 1994; Rotz et al., 2012). The general reaction of denitrification process (Equation. 2.2) occurring in soil (upward arrows indicate possible N loss as a gaseous form) (Follett, 1995; Havlin et al., 2005) is:

$$NO_3^- \rightarrow NO_2$$
 (nitrogen oxide) $\rightarrow NO$ (nitric oxide) $\rightarrow N_2O \uparrow \rightarrow N_2 \uparrow (2.2)$

These nitrification and denitrification microbial processes are influenced by oxygen concentration, inorganic N concentration, carbon availability (organic matter), soil properties (soil moisture, soil bulk density, soil pH, soil types, cation exchange capacity), N sources, and climatic factors (air temperature, rainfall, wind, humidity) (Beauchamp, 1997; Dustan, 2002; Havlin et al., 2005; Jarecki et al., 2008; Mathieu et al., 2006; Rotz et al., 2012).

Thapa et al. (2015) observed cumulative N_2O emission and soil inorganic N intensity is linearly correlated. However, Adviento-Borbe et al. (2010) argued that flux N_2O -N should not be interrelated with current N inputs or soil nitrate concentrations, but instead suggested that N_2O variation may be due to long-term effects of animal manure addition and legume rotations on soil structure, labile carbon or microbial communities.

Venterea et al. (2010) conducted research to compare N₂O emission and soil chemical properties for anhydrous ammonia and urea application under corn-corn or corn-soybean rotation in southeastern Minnesota. They found N₂O emission was higher for anhydrous ammonia fertilizer compared to urea in corn-corn and corn-soybean systems compared to urea. Also, they observed that annual N₂O emissions increased while shifting cropping system from corn-soybean to corn-corn. Similarly, Engel et al. (2010) observed average N₂O loss was 2.0, 2.7, and 5.8 g N kg⁻¹ of applied 100 kg N ha⁻¹ urea-N through broadcast, band, and nest placements, respectively. Likewise, N application timing affects the N₂O emission from soil. Hao et al. (2001) measured the influence of N fertilizer (ammonium nitrate with 0, 50, 100 or 200 kg N ha⁻¹) application timing and straw/tillage practices on soil N₂O emission under irrigation between 1996 and 1997. They found N₂O emission was higher for fall application of N fertilizer (ammonium nitrate) than spring application. They explained that higher N₂O was produced from fall application fertilizer because before planting, fall-applied N had a long time for denitrification, and freeze-thaw events in the early spring caused greater N₂O fluxes. Also, Hernandez-Ramirez et al. (2009) observed in their study that N₂O emission was strongly influenced by manure application time; but, their result showed N₂O emission in spring injected liquid swine manure was 1.8- and 3.4-fold higher than emissions following fall injection. Lower N₂O fluxes from fall-applied pig slurry manure were associated with cold weather and wet soils (Rochette et al., 2001)

2.1.3 Nitrate leaching

Nitrate-N (NO₃⁻-N) is a major chemical form of N in soil that is taken up by crops (Schuchman, 2010). In soil, negatively charged clay mineral surfaces can repel NO₃⁻ forms of N because of similar charged ions (Follett, 1995). As a result, NO₃⁻ ions are highly mobile in soil and tend to leach through the pores of soil particles under the rooting zone when water movement and NO₃⁻ content are high in soil (Follett, 1995; Grant et al., 2002; Havlin et al., 2005; Provin and Hossner, 2001). The risk of NO₃⁻-N loss by leaching is a major route in humid climates and under irrigated cropping system (Havlin et al., 2005). However, NO₃⁻-N leaching below the rooting zone can also occur in

semiarid conditions under cultivated systems (Campbell et al., 1984). Several factors may affect the maginitude of NO_3^- -N loss via leaching such as: a) rate, time, source, and methods of N fertilization; b) soil profile characteristic which affects percolation; c) amount and time of rainfall and/or irrigation; and d) cropping intensity and crop N uptake (Havlin et al., 2005; Haynes et al., 1986; Janzen et al., 2003; Provin and Hossner, 2001; Schuchman, 2010; Williams et al., 2012).

Nitrate leaching from farmland is a major concern for the environment which is highly influenced by the application of manure and/or fertilizer practice. Basso and Ritchie (2005) conducted 6-years of field study in Michigan to quantify effects on NO₃⁻- N leaching due to the application of animal manure, compost, and inorganic fertilizer in a maize-alfalfa rotation. They observed a higher amount of NO₃⁻-N leaching for dairy manure, followed by compost (50% Oak leaves + 50% dairy manure on dry weight), and urea treatment to supply 120 kg of total N ha⁻¹ in the fine-loamy soil. Additional studies showed liquid manure application produced higher NO₃⁻-N leaching than inorganic fertilizer (Ball-Coelho et al., 2004; Elmi et al., 2005).

Bedding in manure also influences NO_3^--N leaching. Land application of a broiler litter (manure and bedding) treatment showed lower NO_3^--N concentration at 1-m depth than commercial fertilizer (ammonium nitrate), but average concentrations for both treatments were less than 10 mg NO_3^--N L⁻¹ (Wood et al., 1996). Similarly, Karimi et al. (2017) showed lower NO_3^--N leaching through straw bedded solid pig manure than liquid pig manure, as the straw may immobilize the N in the solid pig manure. Likewise, bedding influences soil properties such as total carbon (C) (Wood et al., 1996), C: N ratio, water-filled pore space, and water-soluble total N, NH_4^+ -N, and NO_3^- -N (Miller et al., 2014).

Sometimes, the use of one management practice to minimize one form of loss may raise the likelihood of other losses. For example, application of slurry for reducing ammonia loss can increase NO₃⁻-N leaching in agricultural soil (Powell et al., 2011).

2.1.4 Surface runoff and soil erosion

Soil N loss through soil erosion and surface runoff may reduce soil nutrients, impair surface water quality (Lamb et al., 2014), and affect economy and environment (Pimentel et al., 1995; Udawatta et al., 2006). The N loss by soil erosion depends upon the slope of the land, soil texture, amount of soil loss, N content of the soil, conservation practices, and climatic condition. Nitrogen loss by surface runoff varies due to cover crops, source of applied N and timing, rainfall intensity, soil crusting, infiltration capacity of the soil, and soil temperature (Czapar et al., 2008; Knisel, 1980; Pimentel et al., 1995; Ross et al., 2008; Williams et al., 2012). Studies also show that the concentration of NO₃⁻ -N in surface runoff is higher in soil under conventional tillage compare to soil under notillage (Follett et al., 2010; McDowell and McGregor, 1984).

Soil erosion by water includes the process of detachment, transport, and deposition of soil particles (Czapar et al., 2008; Foster et al., 1985). During soil erosion, NH_4^+ binds to the surface soil particles and other sediments while NO_3^- is water soluble and thus moves along with water until it reaches surface water bodies.

2.1.5 Crop nutrient uptake and nutrient removal

Crop nutrient uptake and nutrient removal are also considered as N loss from the soil volume. Crop nutrient uptake refers to the total amount of nutrients taken by crops throughout the growing season that are contained in different parts of plants like grain, leaves, stalks, and roots, whereas nutrient removal means nutrient removed from the field after harvesting the field crops (Heard and Hay, 2006; Roberts et al., 2015). The amount of nutrient removal from the field crop is less than total nutrient uptake by crops because nutrient contained in the residue (i.e., leaves, stalk, stubble) is returned to the soil (Roberts et al., 2015).

The crop nutrient uptake and nutrient removal rates rely on crop types, crop yield, and soil fertility; however, nutrient uptake by crop varies with soil and climatic conditions (CFI, 2001). For example, low soil moisture, low soil temperature, deposition of excessive lime near the root zone, high soil moisture, nutrient imbalance may limit the crop nutrient uptake (CFI, 2001). Also, removal amount of N with crop yields change as a function of the crop (Robertson, 1997). Binford (2010) found that corn grain yield is the most significant factor in nutrient removal by corn, and the mean N removal concentration was 0.88 kg per hectoliter of grain. Similarly, Canadian Fertilizer Institute (CFI, 2001) presented the average N removed from soil is 175 kg N ha⁻¹, when removing 11.2 tonnes-ha⁻¹ corn silage. However, when the yield goal is 0.63 kg m⁻² (100 bushels/acre), corn grain N uptakes average about 172 kg N ha⁻¹ throughout the growing season, and grain harvest from field removes between 98 and 120 kg N ha⁻¹ (CFI, 2001).

2.2 Impact of manure (with or without bedding) and inorganic fertilizer

Manure can supply similar plant nutrients as commercial fertilizers while also increasing the organic matter and improving soil quality (Gelderman et al., 2004; Khaleel et al., 1981). Bedding is a complicating factor for determining nutrient availability when it is mixed with manures, because of its absorbency, water holding capacity, nutrient content, and structural integrity properties (Zehnder et al., 2000). These properties of bedding can change the manure properties and soil properties after field application (Miller et al., 2014). In addition, Miller et al. (2017) found bedding significantly affected the soil salinity parameters. Wood-chip bedding can lower soil pH, soluble cations and anions, and electrical conductivity (EC) (Miller et al., 2017). This section describes manure and inorganic fertilizer application effect on N losses and impact of N losses.

2.2.1 Ammonia volatilization

Ammonia emission is one of the main causes of low N uptake by crops from animal manure (Paramasivam et al., 2009) or fertilizer applied fields (Bouwman et al., 2002). In many countries, agriculture contributes 20 to 80% of NH₃ emission, wherein livestock manure and N fertilizers are the major contributing sources (Aneja et al., 2008; Jantalia et al., 2012; Misselbrook et al., 2000). Hristov et al. (2011) showed that an average 25 to 50% of N excreted daily from cattle is lost to the atmosphere by volatilization of ammonia (NH₃). Ammonia emission can increase significantly if surfaceapplied manure or urea is delayed for incorporation into the soil (Ribaudo et al., 2011). It is estimated that immediate incorporation of surface applied solid manure may reduce NH₃ emission by at least 90% (Webb et al., 2010). Paramasivam et al. (2009) conducted a laboratory study to quantify NH₃ emission on the application of different animal manures in fine sand and loamy sand. Their results indicated that solid swine manure produced a greater NH₃ emission compared to poultry manure while applying the same amount of manure (rates for both manure 0, 2.24, 5.6, 11.2, and 22.4 Mg of manure ha⁻¹) and NH₃ loss due to volatilization increased with increasing manure application rate. Cumulative NH₃ volatilization loss over 19 days was 4 to 27% and 14 to 32% of total N for poultry litter manure and swine manure, respectively (Paramasivam et al., 2009). Greater NH₃ loss in swine manure treatment was probably due to the higher total N content in swine manure compared to poultry manure. Jantalia et al. (2012) evaluated NH₃ loss from four urea-based N fertilizers. They observed that following irrigation of 16 to 19 mm of water 1-day after fertilization, the NH₃ loss was between 0.1 and 4.0% of total N from surface-applied N-fertilizers (urea, SuperU, urea-ammonium nitrate, and polymer-coated urea).

Due to human activities in agriculture, NH₃ emission into the atmosphere has been increasing. The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) has projected that 50 to 85% of total US human-made ammonia volatilization comes from animal agriculture in the United States (Battye et al., 1994; Gay and Knowlton, 2005). Ammonia loss into the environment has had a wide variety of impacts such as soil acidification, acid rainfall, eutrophication of terrestrial and aquatic ecosystem, and respiratory and cardiovascular problems in humans (Bouwman et al., 2002; Bouwman et al., 1997; Gay and Knowlton, 2005; Krupa, 2003). All these facts indicate that NH₃ loss to the atmosphere produces not only an environment impact but also a risk to human health.

2.2.2 Nitrous oxide flux

Nitrous oxide is a potent greenhouse gas occurring in agricultural production which has about 310 times the global warming potential than that of a CO₂ molecule (Dusenbury et al., 2008; EPA, 2013; IPCC, 2014; Rotz et al., 2012) and can destroy stratospheric ozone (Crutzen, 1972, 1974; Schlesinger, 2009). In 2009, U.S. N₂O emissions were 4 million metric tons carbon dioxide equivalent, where agriculture accounted for 73% of total N₂O emission (EIA, 2011). Similarly, the United States EPA Greenhouse Gas Emission Inventory Report in 2016 stated that the 78.9% of total U.S. N₂O emission was contributed by agricultural soil management activities (example: manure and fertilizer application) and cropping practices in 2014. Nitrous oxide emission varied from year to year, and the overall N₂O emissions increased by 5.9 percent between 1990 and 2014 (EPA, 2016). Both reports showed that the agriculture sector is the largest source of N₂O emission in the United States. Globally, about 50% of N₂O flux emits from agricultural soil, caused by human influence mostly due to application of N fertilizer (Grace et al., 2011).

2.2.3 Nitrate leaching

Nitrate leaching from agricultural fields impacts crop yield and the environment. Leachate NO₃⁻-N represents a loss of crop-available nitrogen (Dinnes et al., 2002; Provin and Hossner, 2001). Nitrate-N discharges from the agricultural field can contaminate groundwater and surface waterbodies (lakes and rivers) (Dinnes et al., 2002; Gentry et al., 2007; Randall and Mulla, 2001). The hypoxia condition created in the Gulf of Mexico is an example of excess N discharge into receiving rivers and lakes (Dinnes et al., 2002; Mitsch et al., 2001; Rabalais et al., 2001). Also, an excess of NO₃⁻-N in the waterbodies (>10 mg L⁻¹) can significantly affect fresh water and marine animals (Camargo et al., 2005; US-EPA, 2002). Nitrate concentrations in drinking water exceeding 10 mg L⁻¹ may pose a risk to pregnant women and human babies (DNR, 2014; US-EPA, 2002).

2.2.4 Crop nitrogen and yield

Management practices like manure or fertilizer application timing, rate, types, application methods, and crop rotation can influence the soil available mineral N. The soil available mineral N is directly linked with crop yield. Ultimately, crop yield varies with soil management practices, soil condition, soil N availability, and weather condition. Ahmed et al. (2013) did a field study in central Iowa that determined the effect of liquid swine manure application on soil nutrients, pH, organic matter, and yield. They found the residual soil NO₃⁻ significantly higher for spring injection of swine manure than fall injection, and corn yield was also significantly higher for spring injection plots. The reduction of yield in fall may be due to excessive leaching of nutrients via soil volume between manure application and corn growing period (Ahmed et al., 2013). Based on short and medium-term aspects, application of commercial inorganic fertilizers is more attractive than manure application due to their convenience, ease of application and handling, and reliable high yield (Hepperly et al., 2009).

2.3 Overview of conservation practices that affect manure and/or urea in the nitrogen cycle

The Midwest is an agriculture dominated landscape, which has a massive impact on environmental quality. Therefore, agricultural producers are often encouraged to adopt conservation practices that help to reduce the impact on the environment caused by agriculture (Prokopy et al., 2014). Conservation practices are implemented to conserve the soil from erosion (wind or water), improve water quality and increase the profits to the producers (Hoag and Osmond., 2012). Currently, several conservation practices are applied by producers in the United States to conserve nutrients in the soil and protect the environment. One of the conservation strategies is application and timing of manure or fertilizer during crop production period because appropriate application of manure and/or fertilizers may improve crop yield and reduce environmental effects. Also, agricultural sustainability will be improved if manure and/or fertilizer are managed carefully. Nutrient management is a major concern while applying manure and/or fertilizer in soil. Therefore, the 4R concept (right source, right rate, right time, and right place) is an approach for nutrient management in the soil that can help to increase nutrient use efficiency, enhance the agricultural productivity, profitability, sustainability, and protect the environment (Bruulsema et al., 2009; Bruulsema et al., 2008; Johnston and Bruulsema, 2014).

Right source means selecting the appropriate nutrient source which matches crop requirement and soil properties (Johnston and Bruulsema, 2014). Selection of proper fertilizer helps to ensure that appropriate nutrients are applied to crops to meet specific objectives and avoid unnecessary fertilization (Bryla, 2011). Selecting manure is quite challenging because different manures contain different amounts of nutrients (macro and micronutrients, and others) and organic matter depending on animal species, manure handling and management, bedding system, diets, and temperature (E. Gilley and M. Risse, 2000; Hernandez and Schmitt, 2012). Unlike commercial fertilizer, nutrients cannot be custom-blended. Also, estimating the availability of N in manure is more challenging than P or K estimation (Hernandez and Schmitt, 2012).

Estimating the right application rate of manure or fertilizer relies on knowledge of the previous crop, nutrients present in the soil, crop yield goal, nutrients present in manure or fertilizer, and nutrient availability (Franzen, 2010; Gerwig and Gelderman, 2005; Hernandez and Schmitt, 2012). Under application of N may decrease crop production, whereas over application can affect the environment (Johnston and Bruulsema, 2014). The appropriate application rate of N may fulfill crop N requirements and may also minimize N losses to atmosphere and water bodies (Bryla, 2011; Powers and Van Horn, 2001). However, N availability of crops and soil N losses vary with application methods, types of N sources, soil properties, and climatic factors.

Similarly, right timing for N application plays a crucial role in crop growth and to mitigate the possible N losses. Application of nutrient at the right time allows for adequate supply during crop demand (Bruulsema et al., 2008; Bryla, 2011; Johnston and Bruulsema, 2014). Also, N use efficiency may increase, and nitrate leaching reduces by applying a major part of the N in season, at or near the time when nitrogen demand is high (Charles et al., 2013). A study in Minnesota showed that application of fertilizer in spring increased N use efficiency by 20% compared to fall application and reduced nitrate loss by an average of 36% (Randall et al., 1992; Randall et al., 1997). Manure has some unique behaviors that are affected by the timing of application. Fall broadcasted, or injected manure allows more time to mineralize organic matters before crop uptake compared to spring application, however, more time available for potential soil N losses for fall application (Hernandez and Schmitt, 2012). The Maurer et al. (2017) study in

Iowa estimated the cumulative flux for fall injected swine manure was 3.48 k g ha⁻¹ N₂O, whereas flux was 1.4 k g ha⁻¹ N₂O for spring reapplication in a corn field.

Placement of fertilizer can influence nutrient uptake and crop yield (Reiman et al., 2008). Appropriate placement of fertilizer can help nutrient uptake, especially in soil which has a capacity of nutrient fixation (Johnston and Bruulsema, 2014). Soil inorganic distributions were altered by shallow and deep manure injections (Reiman et al., 2008).

Some of the other conservation practices are conservation tillage, growing cover crops, crop rotation, nitrification inhibitors, a slow-release fertilizer and amendment of organic matter. Conservation tillage or reduce tillage maintains the crop residues in the soil surface, increase infiltration, increase in soil organic carbon, enhance the soil quality, and improve soil resilience (Islam and Reeder, 2014; Uri, 2000). Also, conservation tillage as an effective practice in reducing N losses associated with soil erosion and surface runoff. Crop rotation practice may vary residual N available in soil (Sainju et al., 2017). Crop rotation practices may reduce the NO_3^{-1} leaching from the agricultural lands (Zhu and Fox, 2003). The amount of reduction can be less, depending on the climatic condition and the rotation of crops (Randall et al., 1997). The rotation of legume and nonlegume crops also shows a significant decrease in $NO_3^{-}-N$ loss (Randall et al., 1997). Cover crops are usually planted to reduce soil erosion, improve soil fertility and soil health (Sullivan and Andrews, 2012), improve water holding capacity and thus increases the effectiveness of N fertilizer applied in the field (U.S. Department of Agriculture, 2016), and reduce nutrient loss by leaching or in runoff (Baumhardt et al., 2015).

Nitrification inhibitors include chemicals added to the soils to stabilize fertilizer applied as NH₃ or in the NH₄⁺ form by limiting the activity of the Nitroso-monas bacteria

that convert NH_4^+ to NO_2^- (Dinnes et al., 2002). The nitrification inhibitors are used to slow the conversion process of applied NH_3 fertilizer, hold nitrogen in the field and reduce nitrogen losses before peak N demand for the crops. Use of nitrification inhibitors for N fertilizers rely on soil type and weather condition (Dinnes et al., 2002). Similarly, application of slow release fertilizer practice involves using less water-soluble materials to coat N fertilizers, which slows the entrance of water and slows down the dissolved N movement out of the coated area (Follett, 2008). Sulfur-coated urea is often used in agriculture fields as a slow-N release product (Follett, 2008).

2.4 Summary

Manure management is more challenging than inorganic fertilizer management due to variable nutrient concentration, bedding, and physical and chemical properties. Nitrogen availability from manure is a slow and gradual process which is affected by the type of manure, bedding materials, soil properties, weather condition, and management practices. Many conducted studies regarding nutrient availability, greenhouse gas emission, ammonia emission or nitrate leaching from the land application are focused on slurry or liquid manure application, though a significant amount of manure applied in the field is in solid form. Similarly, field studies related to solid cattle manure with and without bedding for N losses from cropland is limited. Thus, this study focused on fallapplied solid cattle manure with and without bedding on the corn-corn crop rotation field to understand the dynamics of N losses over fall and corn growing season, and to quantify the effect on the total soil nitrate, crop N, and yield.
CHAPTER 3 SOIL NITRATE, SOIL WATER NITRATE CONCENTRATION, CROP NITROGEN, AND YIELD FOR FALL APPLIED SOLID MANURE (WITH AND WITHOUT BEDDING) AND INORGANIC FERTILIZER FOR CORN PRODUCTION NEAR BROOKINGS, SOUTH DAKOTA

ABSTRACT: Nitrogen (N) is one of the major nutrients needed by all plants for their growth and reproduction. However, the excess losses of N from the soil not only decrease soil fertility and plant yield but can also impair water quality and air quality. The goal of this work was to understand the effect of fall-applied solid manure with bedding on nitrogen movement and transformations during corn production. The objectives of the research were to measure the soil nitrate (NO₃⁻-N), soil water nitrate (NO₃⁻-N) concentration, leaf and grain N, and yield from fall-applied N to a corn field, and compare the impact of different forms of applied N (solid beef cattle manure with bedding (MB), solid beef cattle manure only (MO), urea only (UO) and no-fertilizer (NF)), in Brookings County, SD over a two-year period. The application rate of plantavailable N for manure and urea treatments were 130 kg ha⁻¹ in Year 1 and 184 kg ha⁻¹ in Year 2. The mean soil $NO_3^{-}N$ was significantly higher for UO (105.3 kg ha⁻¹) compared to the other three treatments, whereas MB, MO, and NF were not significantly different with each other (71.7, 65.1, and 64.9 kg ha⁻¹). The Year, Growth Stage, and Year*Growth Stage interaction effects on total soil NO_3^{-} -N were significant (P < 0.05). The total soil NO₃⁻N at pre-planting stage for Year 2 was 18% greater than Year 1, whereas, at V6, it was decreased by 39% compared to Year 1. For soil water NO₃⁻-N concentration, Year 1 concentration (12.5 mg L⁻¹) was significantly greater than Year 2 concentration (6.5 mg L^{-1}). The average soil water NO₃⁻-N concentration between corn planting and vegetative

leaves six stage (V6) were not significantly influenced by any treatments. Leaf-N and grain-N concentrations tended to be different (P < 0.1) among treatments. The average leaf-N concentration for UO, MO, MB, and NF were 2.3, 2.1, 2.1, and 2.0%, respectively. Average grain-N concentrations were 1.4, 1.3, 1.2, and 1.2% for UO, MB, MO, and NF, respectively. The result showed that neither manure or urea treatments significantly affected yield compared to control from Year 1 data (Year 2 data was not available).

3.1 Introduction

Applying the correct amount of N at the correct time makes economic and environmental sense (Fageria and Baligar, 2005). Crops require a significant amount of N compared to other nutrients for growth and reproduction during the growth period. Manure (solid or liquid) can be applied to the soil to supply similar plant nutrients (N, P, K, and others) as commercial fertilizers, and application of manure can add organic matter in the soil and improve soil quality (Khaleel et al., 1981; Paul and Beauchamp, 1993; Van Faassen and Van Dijk, 1987). The majority of N in solid manure is in organic form, so, the release of plant usable N depends on mineralization. Thus, the application rate and timing of manure application should be determined based on N-releasing capacity (Qian and Schoenau, 2002). The estimated rate of manure based on its N-release capacity may supply necessary quantity of N to the crops and may reduce the possibility of an excess amount of N loss via leaching under the root zone (Qian and Schoenau, 2002). Nitrogen release capacity from manure may vary with rate and timing of manure application, and without addressing these factors may result in insufficient N to crops or harmful losses to the environment (Smith and Chambers, 1993; Sutton, 1994). Nitrogen loss via leaching from agricultural land can pollute the groundwater and surface water and may create a problem for aquatic ecosystem due to toxic algal blooms and lack of oxygen (Carpenter et al., 1998; Dinnes et al., 2002). Thus, proper manure management practices play a vital role in enhancing crop production and for decreasing environmental impacts (Fageria and Baligar, 2005; Jokela, 1992). Other loss mechanisms are runoff and volatilization (Bierman and Rosen, 2005; Lamb et al., 2014b; Paramasivam et al., 2009; Provin and Hossner, 2001).

Loecke et al. (2004) conducted a study about the effect of fresh and composted solid swine manure and time of manure application (fall or spring) on nutrient status and yield in a corn-field. They found no significant difference in corn yield due to the form of solid manure and time of application in 2000, whereas in 2001, corn yield for fall application (composted manure) was higher than spring application (fresh manure). Also, their result showed the average N supply efficiency was highest for fall-applied composted manure (34.7%) compared to fall-applied fresh manure (24.3%), and spring applied composted manure (25%) while applying the same amount of manure (340 kg total N ha⁻¹). However, application of manure in the fall can be a high risk for NO₃⁻-N leaching, mainly in sandy soils (Van Es et al., 2006). Another study reported the time of manure application had little or no effect on yield response (Jokela, 1992). Ndayegamiye and Cote (1989) found that soil organic carbon, microbial activities, and potentially mineralized-N were positively correlated with the application rate of farmyard manure or pig slurry.

Many studies have been conducted to show or compare the effect of solid and liquid manure (mainly poultry and swine manure) on soil NO₃⁻-N or soil water NO₃⁻-N leaching and corn yield. However, limited studies have quantified the effect of solid beef cattle manure with or without bedding on soil nitrate concentration, soil water nitrate concentration, and yield in the corn-field in Northern Great Plain area. This study focuses on how solid beef feedlot manure with bedding (corn Stover) can influence total soil nitrate, leachate nitrate concentration, leaf-N, grain-N, and corn yield compared to only solid beef manure or urea application. The objectives of the research were to measure the soil NO₃⁻-N, soil water NO₃⁻-N concentration, leaf and grain N, and yield from fall-applied N to a corn field, and compare the impact of different forms of applied N (solid beef cattle manure with bedding (MB), solid beef cattle manure only (MO), urea only (UO) and no-fertilizer (NF)), in Brookings County, SD over a two year period.

3.2 Materials and methods

3.2.1 Sites description

The research site (South Dakota Felt Farm) was located near Brookings County (44° 22' 07.5" N and 96° 47' 35.7" W, and 516 m above mean sea level) and was established in the fall of 2015. The research site area was 0.11 ha (150 ft x 81 ft) with an average slope less than 1%. The soil was categorized as a silty clay loam soil and classified as a Udic Haploborolls (Schaefer, 2005). The 2015 crop was soybeans. The corn planting date was May 2 in 2016. In 2017, corn was first planted on May 6 and replanted on June 2 following a lack of sufficient seed emergence, attributed to weather

and field conditions. Daily precipitation values for the research site were obtained from the South Dakota Climate and Weather Station.

3.2.2 Treatment and experimental setup

The treatment design was a randomized complete block design with plots as the experiment unit (3.3 m x 9.1 m). The four treatments, solid beef cattle manure with bedding (MB), beef cattle manure without bedding (MO), urea (UO), and no fertilizer/control (NF), in each Block (4 Blocks) were assigned randomly. Prior to laying out the plots in 2015, we collected soil samples (0-60 cm) randomly in the research field, and the average total soil NO₃⁻-N was 112 kg ha⁻¹. In 2016, prior to N application the average total soil NO₃⁻-N was 58 kg ha⁻¹.

Based on the soil test, manure tests, and yield goal, nitrogen-based application rates for manure with or without bedding and urea fertilizer were determined using the South Dakota Fertilizer Recommendations Guide EC-750 (SDSU, 2005) (Table 3.1). The corn yield goal was 1.13 kg m⁻² (180 bushels acre⁻¹). Manure with and without bedding and urea were applied on November 3 in 2015, and November 16 in 2016. After manual application of manure and urea on the plots, the N-source was incorporated within 24 h through two passes with a disk plow.

Variable	Voor		Treatment ^[z]			
v al lable		MB	МО	UO		
Application	2015	32505	33850	283		
Rate (kg ha ⁻¹)	2015	52505	55656	205		
	2016	37661	29590	400		
Moisture	2015	74.2	72 3	_		
content (%)	2015	74.2	12.5			
	2016	69.1	53.0	-		
Total N (g kg ⁻¹)	2015	8.5	8.2	460		
	2016	8.5	11.5	460		
Ammonium-N	2015	1.85	1 77			
(g kg ⁻¹)	2015	1.05	1.77	-		
	2016	1.62	1.16	-		
Dry matter (%)	2015	25.8	27.7	-		
	2016	31.0	47.0	-		

 Table 3.1 Application rate and physical characteristics of manure and urea

 fertilizers for experiment site at South Dakota Felt Farm, Brookings, South Dakota

^[z] MB = solid beef cattle manure with bedding; MO = solid beef cattle manure only, UO = urea only

3.2.3 Sample collection and analysis

The soil sampling frequency was related to the N management and crop growth stages: before manure application, before planting, six leaves vegetative stage (V6), and postharvest stage from each plot. Each sampling day, a total of 32 composite soil samples were collected at 0-15 cm (0-6 in.) and 15-60 cm (6-24 in.) depths in each plot using a probe auger. The shallow soil samples (0-15 cm) were analyzed for NH_4^+ -N, electrical conductivity (EC), organic matter (OM), phosphorus (P) concentration, total N, total C, and pH. The NO_3^- -N for 0-15 and 15-60 cm depths were measured in each sample and

added together to get total soil NO₃⁻-N. All the samples were analyzed by AgLabExpress, Sioux Falls. The pH, EC, and OM were analyzed using North Central Extension Research Activities guidelines (NCERA-13, 2015). Soil nitrate was analyzed using Lachat Nitrate method with Bray extraction. Similarly, Olsen P, ammonium, and Total N and C in the soil samples were analyzed using Lachat Phosphorus, Lachat Ammonia, and Dumas method, respectively.

Soil surface (0-5 cm) samples were collected from each plot using the AMS bulk density soil sampling mini kit (with 5 cm * 5 cm stainless steel ring) for determining the bulk density of soil. Soil bulk density was determined using Aridlands Ecology Lab Protocol (modified 2009.01.19, S. Castle). In this protocol, the collected soil samples were oven dried at 105°C for 48 hours and weighed. The bulk density was calculated by dividing the dried weight of the soil by volume of the ring.

One suction lysimeter (127 cm in length and 2.2 cm diameter; Irrometer Company, Inc., CA, USA) was installed in each plot at 120-cm soil depth in the north end of each plot (Figure 1). Soil water samples were collected on days 17, 23, 31, 35, 44, and 50 after planting in Year 1, and on days 16, 24, 33, 39, 48, and 53 after day of planting in Year 2. The number of soil water sampling days depended on rainfall events and soil water availability. During sample collection, a hand pump applied a vacuum pressure between -60 to -70 kPa and the vacuum was maintained for 4 hours. Soil water collected in the lysimeters was extracted using a polypropylene syringe, collected into a polypropylene vial, and transferred to the laboratory for analyses. In the laboratory, NO₃⁻-N concentration in collected water sample was determined using and Automated Timberline TL2800 Ammonia Analyzer (Timberline Instruments, Boulder, CO). Leaf samples were collected from each plot at the six leaves (V6), tasseling (VT), and physiological maturity (R6) stages for leaf nutrient analysis (total N percentage). The six most recently unfurled leaves below the whorl at the V6 stage, and six leaves below the corn ear at VT and R6 stages were collected from six plants in each plot and composited. Plant samples were dried in paper bags at 65-70°C in forced-air dryer. They were then ground to pass an 18-mess (1 mm opening) stainless steel screen with Wiley mill. The samples were then stored in paper envelopes. They were dried overnight at 65-70°C just prior to analysis. Total nitrogen (in %) was measured using the micro-Kjeldahl procedure by the South Dakota State University Soil Testing and Plant Analysis Lab, Brookings. In the micro-Kjeldahl method, a 0.4 ± 0.01 g sample was weighed, digested and then distilled. Then, the N% was calculated using Equation 3.1:

$$\% N = \frac{(ml of acid-blank)*(normality of acid)*0.014*100}{weight of sample}$$
(3.1)

Yield and corn-grain samples were collected during the Year 1 (2016) harvest. The N concentration in the corn grain was analyzed using inductively coupled plasma (ICP) analysis by the South Dakota State University Soil Testing and Plant Analysis Lab, Brookings. Yield and grain samples were not collected during the 2017 harvest.

3.2.4 Statistical analysis

The experimental design was a randomized complete block design and was analyzed as a mixed-effect model. The data for soil NO₃⁻-N water concentration, leaf-N concentration, and total soil NO₃⁻-N were repeated measurements on the plots (experimental units). Treatment (MB, MO, UO, and NF) and Growth Stage (stages differed for the various dependent variables) were considered fixed factors for total soil NO₃⁻-N and leaf-N concentration data, but Time was considered as a random factor for soil water NO₃⁻-N data. The Year (Year 1 and Year 2) was considerd a fixed effect and Block (replication) considered as a random factor for all variables. All the data analyses (soil NO₃⁻-N water concentration, leaf-N concentration, total soil NO₃⁻-N, grain-N, and yield) were performed in SAS using the PROC GLIMMIX procedure (SAS-Institute, 2012). The mixed model approach included the effects of N source or Treatment, Growth Stage/Time, Block, Year, and their interactions between these variables. Significant differences were considered at P < 0.05. The normality of the residuals was reviewed using Q-Q plots and if residuals appeared not normal, different distribution options (e.g., lognormal, exponential, Poisson) available in PROC GLIMMIX were tested. Different covariance structures were used to assess the repeated measure data, including covariance component (VC), compound symmetry (CS), auto-regression (AR (1)), unstructured (UN), and Toeplitz (TOEP). The covariance structure selected for each variable was based on the smallest Akaike information criterion (AIC) value.

Normal distribution and AR(1) were used for soil water NO₃⁻-N concentration and leaf-N, whereas normal distribution and VC were selected for grain-N and yield data. However, lognormal distribution and UN covariance structure were selected for total soil NO₃⁻-N dataset. The least square means (Ismean) from lognormal distributions were back transformed for reporting purposes. For post hoc test, Tukey's Honest Significant Difference (HSD) was used. A correlation analysis was done using yield and leaf-N concentration data from each plot (16 plots) at VT stage (number of samples, N = 16), and the annual average total soil nitrate for Year 1 only using PROC CORR.

3.3 Results and discussions

3.3.1 Total soil nitrate

Table 3.2 presents the average soil NO₃⁻-N levels among Blocks for the

Treatments, Years and Growth Stages.

X 7	Growth					
Y ear	Stage	MB	МО	UO	NF	- Mean
Year 1	Pre-plant	153.3±19.5	155.1±19.8	304.1±38.7	151.9±19.4	181.2±14.5
	V6	67.3±16.6	50.2±12.4	109.7±27.1	57.5±14.2	66.5 ± 8.8
	Post-Harvest	57.3±7.5	44.5±5.9	63.7±8.4	34.8±4.6	48.5±4.0
Year 2	Pre-plant	182.7±23.3	172.2±21.9	422.3±53.8	159.7±20.3	213.6±17.1
	V6	39.2±9.7	38.7±9.7	43.4±10.7	44.7±11.1	40.6±5.3
	Post-Harvest	34.3±4.5	35.2 ± 4.6	37.5±4.9	38.8±4.8	35.7±2.9
Overall mean		71.7±6.3 ^b	65.1±5.7 ^b	105.3±9.2 ^a	64.9 ± 5.7^{b}	

 Table 3.2 Mean (±SE^[y]) of total soil nitrate for four Treatments with Year by

 Growth Stage

^[y] Mean (\pm SE) = Estimate mean (\pm Standard Error) obtained from Year * Treatment Least Squared mean table; Superscript of different letters within treatments indicate significantly different (P < 0.05).

 $^{[z]}$ MB = solid beef cattle manure with bedding; MO = solid beef cattle manure only, UO = urea only; NF = no-fertilizer.

The mean total soil NO₃⁻-N for the UO plots was significantly higher than manure and no fertilizer plots (P < 0.05, Figure 3.1). The lower soil NO₃⁻-N in the manure-treated plots may be related to slow mineralization of manure organic matter, particularly in cold weather, and low inorganic N in manure compared to urea. Carbon and organic matter can reduce N mineralization in manure plots. Qian and Schoenau (2002) found that N mineralization decreases significantly with increase C/N ratio in cattle manure.



Figure 3.1 Mean total soil nitrate and standard error (vertical lines) for four treatments over corn growing season. (MB, MO, UO, and NF are solid beef cattle manure with bedding, solid beef cattle manure only, urea only, and no-fertilizer treatments, respectively, whereas different letters above the bars indicate significant differences (P < 0.05))

The interaction between Year and Growth Stage was also a significant effect on total soil nitrate (P < 0.05, Figure 3.2). The total soil NO_3^- -N in Year 2 at the pre-plant stage was about 18% greater than Year 1. However, total soil NO_3^- -N was significantly lower at the V6 stage by 39% and at the post-harvest stage by 26% in Year 2 compared to Year 1 (Table 3.2 and Figure 3.2). The significant difference of total soil NO_3^- -N between the two years at the various corn stages might be due to the replanting of the crop in Year 2 (1 month after the first plant); and some excess quantity of NO_3^- -N could be lost via

leaching, volatilization or denitrification compared to the shorter period prior to V6 in Year 1.



Figure 3.2 Mean total soil nitrate with standard error (vertical lines) for Year by Growth Stage. (Different letters above the bars indicate significant differences (P < 0.05))

3.3.2 Soil water nitrate concentration

Soil water samples from each plot were collected between corn planting and the V6 stage in both corn growing seasons (Year 1 and Year 2) to determine leachate NO_3^--N concentration. Treatments were not significantly different (P > 0.05; Table 3.3), which indicates that short-term leachate NO_3^--N concentrations from the soil profile (1.2 m depth) were not significantly affected by manures or fertilizer application. In several instances and on average for the MO and UO treatments, the mean concentration of soil water NO_3^--N for MO and UO were about 13.8 and 10.3 mg L⁻¹, respectively. The U.S.

Environmental Protection Agency standard (>10 mg NO₃⁻-N L⁻¹) for drinking water is 10 mg L⁻¹ (EPA, 2002).

Table 3.3 Mean (±SE^[y]) of soil water leachate nitrate (NO3⁻-N) concentration forfour Treatments for Year 1 and Year 2

Year		Mean			
	MB	МО	UO	NF	
Year 1	9.0 ± 3.2	16.6 ± 3.2	12.1 ± 3.2	12.4 ± 3.2	$12.53\pm3.2^{\rm a}$
Year 2	3.7 ± 3.4	9.1 ± 3.3	8.5 ± 3.4	4.5 ± 3.3	$6.45\pm3.4^{\rm b}$
Mean	$6.35\pm3.3^{\rm a}$	$12.85\pm3.3^{\rm a}$	$10.3\pm3.3^{\rm a}$	$8.45\pm3.3^{\rm a}$	9.49 ± 3.3

^[y]Mean (\pm SE) = Estimate mean (\pm Standard Error) obtained from Year * Treatment Least Squared mean table; Superscripts of same letters within Treatments indicates not significant difference (P < 0.05).

 $^{[z]}$ MB = solid beef cattle manure with bedding; MO = solid beef cattle manure only; UO = urea only; NF = no-fertilizer

The average soil water NO₃⁻-N concentration was significantly greater in Year 1 compared to Year 2. The possible reasons for the significant difference between two years are variations in total soil NO₃⁻-N and rainfall. The total soil NO₃⁻-N in Year 2 was initially higher, but lower at the V6 stage compared to Year 1 (Figure 3.2). A potentially lower soil NO₃⁻-N level in Year 2 during the soil water NO₃⁻-N sample collection was possible with re-planting in Year 2 and the month delay in the calendar year, relative to Year 1. However, rainfall was also another factor that may have influenced soil water NO₃⁻-N concentration. The rainfall in Year 1 between planting and V6 stage was about 148 mm, which was greater than the 108 mm of rainfall in Year 2 during the same period of corn growth. Allaire-Leung et al. (2001) found that nitrate leaching measured at 1-m depth by ion-exchange resign bags was positively correlated to soil NO₃⁻-N. Nitrate leaching from soil also depends on soil type, N application rate, types of N sources, cover

crops cropping intensity and crop N uptake (Aronsson and Bergström, 2001; Havlin et al., 2005; Wyland et al., 1996), and these factors influence translation of these research results to other fields and crop systems.

3.3.3 Leaf nitrogen concentration

The average leaf-N concentration was significantly affected by the Year, Growth Stage (V6, VT, and R6), and the interaction between Year and Growth Stage (P < 0.05, Table 3.4 and Figure 3.3). The mean leaf-N tended to be different between treatments (P < 0.1).

•7						
Year	Growth Stage	MB	МО	UO	NF	Mean
Year 1	V6	2.93	2.99	3.13	2.77	2.96±0.08
	VT	2.79	2.72	2.90	2.84	2.81±0.08
	R6	1.50	1.45	1.45	1.26	1.42 ± 0.08
Mean (Year 1)		2.41±0.09	2.39±0.09	2.50±0.09	2.29±0.09	2.39±0.05ª
Year 2	V6	2.85	2.73	3.10	2.64	2.83±0.08
	VT	1.70	1.69	2.06	1.56	1.75 ± 0.08
	R6	1.06	1.08	1.03	1.04	1.05 ± 0.08
Mean (Year 2)		1.87±0.09	1.83±0.09	2.06±0.09	1.75±0.09	1.88±0.05 ^b
Overall mean		2.14±0.07	2.11±0.07	2.28±0.07	2.02±0.07	

Table 3.4 Mean (SE^[y] = 0.14) leaf N% for four Treatments for Year 1 and Year 2

^[a] Mean (\pm SE) = Estimate mean (\pm Standard Error) obtained from Year * Growth Stage * Treatment Least Squared mean table. Superscripts of different letters within years indicates significant difference (P < 0.05).

^[z]MB= solid beef cattle manure with bedding; MO= solid beef cattle manure only; UO =urea only; NF =no-fertilizer.



Figure 3.3 Mean leaf-N concentraton with standard error (vertical lines) for Year 1 and Year 2 based on Growth Stage. (V6, VT, and R6 are six-leaves stage, taseling stage, and maturity stage of corn, respectively; different letters above the bars indicate significant differences (P < 0.05))

The mean leaf-N concentration for UO was higher compared to remaining treatments (Table 3.4). The variation in leaf-N concentration may be related to differences in soil NO₃⁻-N between treatments. Furthermore, the result showed the leaf-N concentration at V6 stage was higher in both years of study and was decreasing over growth stage (Figure 3.3). The average leaf-N was 2.4% for the Year 1, whereas for Year 2, it was 1.9%. The significant variation in leaf N concentration among two years may be due to a variety of corn, rainfall, soil moisture, and soil available N late corn planting in the Year 2.

Grain N and yield were only collected and analyzed in Year 1.

The mean grain-N tended to be different among treatments (P < 0.1). In Year 1, the mean grain-N for UO was 1.36%, whereas concentration of grain-N for MB, MO, and NF were 1.33, 1.22, and 1.19%, respectively (Table 3.5).

The average corn yield was not statistically different between treatments. The average yield from UO, MB, MO, and NF treatments were about 1.25, 1.20, 1.08, and 1.08 kg m^{-2} (Table 3.6), respectively.

Table 3.5 Mean $(\pm SE)^{[y]}$ grain-N and corn yield for four Treatments for Year 1

Variable		Meen			
variable	MB MC		NF	UO	Mean
Grain N (%)	1.33 ± 0.05	1.22 ± 0.05	1.19 ± 0.05	1.36 ± 0.05	1.28
Yield (kg m ⁻²)	1.20 ± 0.08	1.08 ± 0.08	1.08 ± 0.08	1.25 ± 0.08	1.15

^[y] Mean (\pm SE) = Estimate mean (\pm Standard Error) obtained from Treatment Least Squared mean table. ^[z]MB= solid beef cattle manure with bedding; MO = solid beef cattle manure only; UO =urea only; NF =no-fertilizer.

The Year 1 correlation results showed that leaf-N at VT stage and yield were significantly related (r = 0.70, and P < 0.05). Kovács and Vyn (2017) found ear-leaf N concentration at mid-silking stage and corn yield significantly correlated. Similarly, Voss et al. (1970) showed corn yield was positively related with leaf-N concentration. The yield and grain-N also varied significantly with the amount of total NO₃⁻-N present in the soil. For Year 1 (data, n=16 for grain-N and yield), grain-N and yield were positively correlated with average total soil NO₃⁻-N (r = 0.71 and r = 0.68).

3.4 Conclusions

The total soil NO₃⁻N was significantly affected by fall-applied manure and fertilizer treatments for the two-year experiment between the Fall of 2015 and Fall of 2017 in silty clay loam soil in corn production near Brookings, SD. Our experiment showed the average of total soil NO_3 -N for the UO treatment was significantly greater than manure treatments or no fertilizer over the two corn production years compared to manure treatments, however, they received the same amount of plant-available N based on crop yield. The result also showed the Year and Growth Stage interaction significantly affected total soil NO₃⁻-N. The significant effect of Year*Growth Stage interaction on total soil NO₃⁻-N could be associated with replanting because replanting delayed about 1month compared to Year 1. During that 1-month period, soil could lose N via leaching, volatilization, and denitrification. During this period, the manure and urea treatments did not significantly differ in effects on soil water NO_3 -N concentration, even compared to no-fertilizer. In contrast, soil water NO_3^- -N was significantly higher in Year 1 (12.5 mg L^{-1}) compared to Year 2 (6.5 mg L^{-1}). A significant change in soil water NO₃⁻-N between two years could be due to rainfall or significant change in total soil NO₃⁻-N. The leaf-N and grain-N tended to be different among the manure and urea treatments, with the UO treatment producing the highest N concentration, and NF resulting in the lowest concentration. We found the corn yield was not significantly different among any treatments (manure, urea or no fertilizer) in Year 1 (Year 2 measurements were not collected). Overall, we observed that the total soil NO_3^- N was greatly influenced by urea compared to solid beef cattle manure with and without bedding, but the effect on yield was non-existent in Year 1, and leaf-N and soil water NO₃-N in Year 1 and Year 2.

CHAPTER 4 AMMONIA AND NITROUS OXIDE FLUXES FOR FALL APPLIED SOLID MANURE (WITH AND WITHOUT BEDDING) AND INORGANIC FERTILIZER FOR CORN PRODUCTION NEAR BROOKINGS, SOUTH DAKOTA

ABSTRACT: Land applied manure or fertilizer can contribute to soil N losses in the form of ammonia (NH_3) and nitrous oxide (N_2O) gases. Both gases are responsible for air quality deterioration. The goal of this work was to understand the effect of fallapplied solid manure with bedding on nitrogen movement and transformations during corn production. This study focused on comparing the effects of fall-applied solid beef cattle manure with and without bedding (MB and MO), urea (UO) and no-fertilizer (NF) on NH₃ and N₂O fluxes from silty clay loam soil under a corn-corn cropping system, near Brookings, SD. The methods for collecting samples for soil N fluxes were semi-static open chambers for NH₃ and static chambers for N₂O. The results showed the average NH₃ flux for MB (3.4 ± 0.9 g ha⁻¹ h⁻¹) was significantly higher compared to NF, whereas MO and UO were not significantly different than MB and NF treatments. The aerial N₂O flux released from UO (79.0 \pm 24.9 µg m⁻² h⁻¹) was significantly greater than NF, though the N₂O fluxes from manure treatments were not significantly different compared to UO and NF. The NH₃ and N₂O fluxes for NF were 1.4 ± 0.4 g ha⁻¹ h⁻¹ and 24.6 ± 7.7 µg m⁻² h^{-1} . Understanding soil N loss paths and related factors will help to identify appropriate management practices and nutrient management plans to mitigate excessive N losses to the environment.

4.1 Introduction

Nitrogen (N) is one of the most essential nutrients for corn grain production (Havlin et al., 2005a; Provin and Hossner, 2001; Robertson, 1997). However, N loss may create environmental problems resulting in the decrease of soil, water, and air quality (Cameron et al., 2013; Mosier et al., 2004). The risk of N loss from agricultural land to the atmosphere increases with excess use of N sources and their mismanagement (Dinnes et al., 2002; Provin and Hossner, 2001) and gaseous losses are mainly NH_3 and N_2O_2 , which produce air quality issues (Paramasivam et al., 2009; Rotz et al., 2014; Wu et al., 2008). Nitrous oxide has a global warming potential which tends to be about 310 times higher than that of a carbon dioxide (CO_2) molecule and contributes to depletion of the ozone layer (Chapuis-Lardy et al., 2007; IPCC, 2014; Robertson et al., 2000; Schlesinger, 2009). Ammonia release and deposition into the atmosphere can lead to acidification and eutrophication (Huijsmans et al., 2003; Nielsen et al., 2003). Also, emission of NH_3 to the atmosphere plays a role in the formation of airborne fine particulate matter by reacting with sulfur dioxide and oxides of nitrogen (Behera and Sharma, 2010; Bittman et al., 2014; Gong et al., 2013). The fine particulate matter can responsible for adverse health effects (Dabek-Zlotorzynska et al., 2011; Pope III and Dockery, 2006; Pope III et al., 2009). The result of soil N loss reduces crop N uptake (Bouwman et al., 2002; Paramasivam et al., 2009), and therfore impacts crop production and economics (Cassman et al., 2002; Fageria and Baligar, 2005).

The release of NH_3 and N_2O gases from agriculture into the atmosphere has been increasing due to human activities. EPA (2016) indicated that agricultural activities such as manure and fertilizer application, cropping practices are significant sources which are responsible for about 79% of total US N₂O emissions. Emission of N₂O varied from year to year, however, between 1990 and 2014, overall N₂O emissions increased by 5.9 percent (EPA, 2016). Ammonia volatilization is one of the primary loss mechanisms of N from agricultural production systems (Bouwman et al., 2002; Smil, 1999). Emission of NH₃ from agriculture contributes 20 to 80% of applied manure TAN, while animal manure and N fertilizer are the major contributors (Aneja et al., 2008; Misselbrook et al., 2000). However, Jantalia et al. (2012) found the range of NH₃-N loss was between 0.1 and 4% of total N from surface-applied N fertilizers.

Many factors influence the N₂O and NH₃ flux and emission from land-applied manure and fertilizers. Manure and fertilizer types, their characteristics, application rate, methods, and timing and some other management practices like reduced tillage, crop rotations, and cover crops, soil properties, climatic condition are the primary controlling factors for soil surface emission (Cai et al., 2016; Engel et al., 2010; Meisinger and Jokela, 2000; Miola et al., 2014; Paramasivam et al., 2009). Also, bedding materials and their types can affect manure characteristics which may impact surface emissions (Miller et al., 2012; Misselbrook and Powell, 2005). Miller et al. (2012) researched loss of N by denitrification due to long-term application of composted (with straw bedding) versus fresh feedlot beef cattle manure. The studied showed a significantly lower cumulative denitrification flux for composted manure (with straw bedding) (0.7-1.4 kg N₂O-N ha⁻¹) compared to fresh feedlot manure (3.2-5.1 kg N₂O-N ha⁻¹). Paramasivam et al. (2009) found cumulative NH₃ volatilization loss over 19 days from poultry litter manure and swine manure were 4 to 27% and 14 to 32% of applied total N, respectively. Several studies have compared the effects of slurry or liquid manure application of different manure types (swine, dairy, poultry, feedlot) on N₂O and NH₃ emission from the soil surface (Agnew et al., 2010; Amon et al., 2006; Beauchamp et al., 1982; Dustan, 2002; Gordon et al., 2001; Jarecki et al., 2008; Meisinger and Jokela, 2000; Miola et al., 2014; Rochette et al., 2001). However, limited field studies have been conducted to measure N₂O and NH₃ soil surface flux with solid beef cattle manure (with and without bedding) applied. Understanding the influence of bedding on N losses in gaseous form from surface-applied solid manure can help refine management and nitrogen loss factors.

The research aimed to measure the influence of fall-applied solid beef manure, with or without bedding, and urea application on NH₃ and N₂O fluxes during corn production and compare these fluxes no manure/fertilizer N application.

4.2 Materials and methods

4.2.1 *Site description*

The research site was established in the fall of 2015 at the South Dakota State University Felt Research Farm near Brookings (44° 22' 07.5" N and 96° 47' 35.7" W, and 516 m above mean sea level). The area covered by the research field was about 0.11 ha (150 ft x 81 ft) with an average slope less than 1%. The soil was silty clay loam soil and classified as a Udic Haploborolls (Schaefer, 2005). The 2015 crop was soybeans. The corn was planted on May 2 in 2016. In 2017, the corn was first planted on May 6, and replanted on June 2 following a lack of sufficient seed emergence, attributed to weather and field conditions.

4.2.2 Treatment and experimental setup

The treatments (plots) were randomly assigned within blocks (Figure 4.1) and plots were considered the experiment unit (3.3 m x 9.1 m). The four treatments in each Block were: solid beef cattle manure with bedding (MB); solid beef cattle manure without bedding (MO); urea (UO); and no-fertilizer/control (NF). There were four replicates of each treatment. Manures with and without bedding and urea were applied on November 3 in 2015 and November 16 in 2016. Nitrogen application rates were determined prior to application based on soil and manure analyses and yield goal, using the South Dakota Fertilizer Recommendations Guide EC-750 (SDSU, 2005). The corn yield goal was 1.13 kg m⁻² (180 bushels/acre).



Figure 4.1 Layout of the experimental site at the South Dakota State University Felt Farm (Brookings County).

The application rates of beef feedlot manure with bedding were 3.25 kg m⁻² and 3.77 kg m⁻² in the Fall of 2015 (Year 1) and 2016 (Year 2), respectively. The application rates for solid beef manure (no bedding) were 3.39 kg m⁻² in Year 1 and 2.96 kg m⁻² in Year 2. Urea was applied at rates of 28.3 and 40.0 g m⁻² in Year 1 and Year 2, respectively. Manure and urea were applied manually to the plots and incorporated within 24 h through two passes with a disk plow. Manure was from a beef feedlot and the bedding (where applicable) was corn Stover. The manure characteristics are described in detail in Chapter 3; however, it is worthwhile to note the ammonium-N concentrations

were 1.85 and 1.70 g kg⁻¹ for MB and MO, respectively, in Year 1; and 1.62 and 1.16 g kg⁻¹ for MB and MO, respectively, in Year 2.

4.2.3 Sample collection and analysis

Composite samples of ammonia (NH₃) gas release were collected in three locations of each plot using semi-static chambers and with acidified foam strips as described by Jantalia et al. (2012). In Year 1, the samples were taken on days -4, 3, 7, and 13 d from the day of N application in the fall, and -6, 10, and 30 d from the day of planting in 2016. In Year 2, the sampling days were -7, 1, 6, and 15 d from the day of N application in 2016, and -35, 7, and 42 d from the day of replanting in Year 2. On the day of measurement, the foam strips and acid solution were collected, stored in a medium sized plastic freezer bag, and new traps (acidified strips) were inserted. The collected ammonia sample traps were transferred to the laboratory and kept in the freezer. In the laboratory, the thawed samples traps were extracted with 250 mL of 2 M KCL solution. Forty ml of this solution were then sealed and frozen at -18 °C in polypropylene vials before analysis. Samples were analyzed using an Automated Timberline TL2800 Ammonia Analyzer (Timberline Instruments, Boulder, CO).

Ammonia concentration was obtained in g N ha⁻¹ by multiplying NH₃ concentration (μ g mL⁻¹) and the total volume of solution (250 mL), then dividing by the surface area of the soil covered by the respective chamber (79 cm²). The ammonia flux (g N ha⁻¹ h⁻¹) for each plot was determined by dividing ammonia concentration by elapsed time from installation to the removal of the NH₃ traps.

For nitrous oxide gas (N_2O) sampling, three polyvinyl chloride (PVC) collars (25.4 cm internal diameter by 15 cm height) extending 5 cm above the soil surface were

installed on each treatment plot (n=48). Gas samples were collected on days -4, 7, and 13 in the Fall of Year 1, and -7, 1, 6, and 15 in the Fall of Year 2 from the day of manure/urea application. Also, gas samples were collected on days 7 and subsequent monthly intervals following corn planting to August in both experimental years, preferably after a rainfall event. In Year 1, pre-planting N₂O samples were collected on days -8 from the day of corn planting, whereas, in Year 2, it was collected on days -38 and -17 from replanting. On each sampling day, the vented PVC chamber caps (5872 cm^3) were placed on the collar, and gas samples were withdrawn from each chamber after 0, 30 and 60-minutes following the static chamber method, described by Parkin and Venterea (2010). During each withdrawal, 10 ml gas samples were drawn using a 30-ml syringe and transferred to 12 ml pre-evacuated glass vials sealed with butyl rubber septa. Also, one sample of ambient air was collected during the sampling time for each Block to measure the concentration of nitrous oxide in the atmosphere. All the samples (0, 30 and 60 min) including ambient air sampling were collected between 9:30 am to 4:00 pm. These collected gas samples were analyzed for N₂O concentrations using a Gas Chromatograph (Shimadzu 14B with a CombiPal AOC-5000 auto-sampler, a flame ionization detector [FID] and an electron capture detector [ECD], Shimadzu Corporation, Japan).

Ancillary parameters including air and soil temperature (Acurite Digital Meat Thermometer, 00641W, AcuRiteNSF) and soil moisture (HH2 Moisture Meter, Theta probe type ML2x, Delta-T Devices Cambridge, England) were collected around each chamber on each gas sampling day.

Based on review of the 0 min and ambient concentration samples, the average ambient concentration measurement was used in place of the 0-min samples for each sampling day. The N₂O flux (µL N₂O L⁻¹ h⁻¹) were determined from N₂O concentrations relative to elapsed time. Flux calculations were not performed if: (a) the time 30-min (T30) and/or time 60-min (T60) concentration(s) were less than (1- error)*ambient concentration; (b) the quadratic curve through the 3 data points was concave down and $T60^{\circ}(1+error)$ was less than $T30^{\circ}(1-error)$; or (c) the quadratic curve through the 3 data points was concave up and a linear slope fit through the 3 points was not significantly different than zero. If the quadratic curve through the 3 points was concave down, the first order coefficient of the quadratic equation fit through the 3 data points was considered the flux. If the quadraric curve through the 3 points was concave up, but the linear slope through the 3 points was significantly different than zero, the slope was considered the flux. The allowable error (proportional to concentration) was 20%. Evaluated N₂O fluxes were then converted into μ g N₂O -N m⁻² h⁻¹ using the Ideal Gas Law equation. The resulted fluxes were corrected using soil properties (bulk density, clay fraction, pH, moisture content, and soil temperature) using method derived from Venterea (2013).

4.2.4 Weather data

Daily precipitation and maximum and minimum mean air temperatures from the end of October 2015 to October 2017, for the research site, were obtained from the South Dakota Climate and Weather Station.

4.2.5 Statistical analysis

The statistical analysis was performed as a randomized complete block design with N₂O and NH₃ fluxes as repeated measures using the PROC GLIMMIX procedure of SAS (SAS-Institute, 2012). All measurements were repeated measures based on the date of sampling since multiple measurements came from the same experimental units. Treatments (MB, MO, UO, and NF) and Year (Year 1 and Year 2) were considered fixed factors, whereas, sampling days (Time) and Block were assumed random factors for replication purposes. The mixed model approach also included the effects of Treatment, Year, Time, Block and interactions between them. Differences were considered significant at P < 0.05.

The residuals of the N₂O and NH₃ flux data models were not normal. A lognormal distribution improved the Q-Q plots and was used for mixed model analysis. Various covariance structures, such as covariance component (VC), compound symmetry (CS), auto-regression (AR(1)), unstructured (UN), and Toeplitz (TOEP) were then evaluated, and the VC covariance structure selected based on the smallest Akaike information criterion (AIC) value. The obtained least square means (lsmean) from lognormal distribution were back transformed for presentation. For post hoc test, Tukey's Honest Significant Difference (HSD) was used.

4.3 Results and discussions

4.3.1 Weather condition

Maximum and minimum air temperatures were 19 and 7°C in Year 1 and 15 and -1°C in Year 2, respectively, on the day of manure/fertilizer application. Afterwards, air temperature declined from November to January and then began to increase. Air temperatures in late April were higher than they were in November (Figure 4.2 and 4.3). In Year 1, there was not any rainfall for 12 days after N application; however, rainfall occurred 3 days after N application in Year 2.



Figure 4.2 Minimum and maximum daily air temperature with daily precipitation from Oct. 2015 to Oct. 2016 (Year 1). The first arrow indicates the N application day, whereas second arrow represents the day of planting.



Figure 4.3 Minimum and maximum daily air temperature with daily precipitation from Oct. 2016 to Oct. 2017 (Year 2). The first arrow indicates the N application day, whereas second arrow represents the day of planting.

4.3.2 Ammonia flux

The average soil NH₃ fluxes before N applications were 0.69 and 3.3 g ha⁻¹ h⁻¹ for Year 1 and Year 2, respectively. Table 4.1 shows the average NH₃ fluxes for sampling days after N application for Year 1 and Year 2. We observed NH₃ fluxes increased the first sampling day after N application in the fall for Year 1 and Year 2, however, the fluxes were decreased after the first sampling day from manure plots in both years during fall sampling days (Table 4.1). Also, we noticed that NH₃ fluxes from MB were higher during the first sampling day in both years.

Voor	Sompling day		Moon			
I cai	Samping day	MB	МО	UO	NF	- wican
Year 1	11/6/2015	10.41	1.84	2.09	0.64	3.75
	11/10/2015	8.74	1.76	1.7	1.23	3.36
	11/16/2015	5.23	1.32	1.83	1.16	2.39
	4/26/2016	1.44	1.36	1.57	1.49	1.47
	5/12/2016	1.39	1.36	1.26	1.21	1.31
	6/1/2016	1.62	1.46	1.36	1.59	1.51
	Mean ±SE ^[y]	3.87±1.28	1.49±0.49	1.63±0.54	1.17±0.39	1.79±0.47
Year 2	11/17/2016	14.59	6.12	4.74	5.17	7.66
	11/22/2016	5.87	3.58	9.84	1.7	5.25
	12/1/2016	2.98	0.65	4.06	0.64	2.08
	4/28/2017	1.49	1.22	1.14	1.45	1.33
	5/16/2017	1.69	1.67	1.60	1.57	1.63
	6/9/2017	1.37	1.35	1.40	1.38	1.38
	7/14/2017	2.13	2.14	1.94	1.98	2.05
	Mean ±SE ^[y]	3.11±1.03	1.99±0.66	3.03±1.01	1.79±0.59	2.36±0.63

Table 4.1 Average ammonia fluxes (g ha⁻¹ h⁻¹) after nitrgoen application for the four Treatments based on sampling day (Time) for Year 1 and Year 2.

^[y]Mean ± SE = Estimated mean ± Standard Error obtained from Year * Treatment Least Squared means table;

 $^{[z]}$ MB = solid beef cattle manure with bedding; MO = solid beef cattle manure only, UO = urea only; NF = no-fertilizer.

The analysis showed a significant effect of treatment on NH_3 flux (P < 0.05).

However, the Year and interaction between Year and Treatment were not significanlty factors for NH₃ flux from the soil surface. The average NH₃ flux from MB was only significantly different than NF, whereas MO and UO were not significantly different from either MB or NF (Figure 4.4). The highest mean (\pm SE) NH₃ flux was 3.4 \pm 0.9 g ha⁻¹ h⁻¹, obtained from MB, whereas the lowest mean (\pm SE) NH₃ was 1.4 \pm 0.4 g ha⁻¹ h⁻¹

from NF. Adviento-Borbe et al. (2010) reported the NH₃ fluxes were below 1.07 g ha⁻¹ h⁻¹ (107 μ g m⁻² h⁻¹) from liquid dairy manure and fertilizer N treated plots under corn-corn and corn-alfalfa rotation. Furthermore, they observed the highest soil NH₃ fluxes immediately after manure application, and fluxes were lower thereafter. They stated that decreasing NH₃ flux might be due to decreased total ammoniacal N (TAN= NH₃+ NH₄⁺) at the soil surface, infiltration of slurry into soil profile, and a drop in pH due to NH₃ volatilization. The pattern of NH₃ fluxes in our study were similar with them after N application, however the NH₃ fluxes were slightly larger in value. Application timing, methods, N sources, bedding material also affect reported soil NH₃ flux data compared to our study.



Figure 4.4 Average soil ammonia flux with standard error (vertical lines) from solid beef cattle manure with bedding (MB), solid beef cattle manure only (MO), urea only, and no-fertilizer (NF) treatments for two corn growing seasons (2015/16 and 2016/17). The letters above the bars denote the Least Squared-Means differences at P < 0.05.</p>

The higher NH_3 fluxes from MB treatment could be due to higher ammonium-N (NH_4^+-N) in the manure with bedding compared to the manure only (MO). Huijsmans et al. (2003) observed that soil NH_3 flux increased with an increase TAN in manure. The highest NH_3 flux is often related to the highest manure TAN (Adviento-Borbe et al., 2010; Huijsmans et al., 2003; Miola et al., 2014).

4.3.3 Nitrous oxide flux

The N_2O flux samples were collected through the monitoring period after N application and corn planting period, excluding winter and early spring. We wanted to observe the effect of fall-applied solid manure with and without bedding and urea fertilizer on N_2O flux. The Table 4.2 showed the average nitrous oxide fluxes in each sampling day (Time) for Year 1 and Year 2.

Voor	Sompling day		Moon			
I ear	Samping day	MB	МО	UO	NF	
Year 1	11/10/2015	123.40	96.94	105.79	76.81	100.74
	11/16/2015	85.97	26.02	76.61	54.36	60.74
	4/24/2016	580.54	65.53	268.69	103.76	254.63
	5/9/2016	139.27	36.07	42.73	51.48	67.39
	6/1/2016	110.28	5.04	82.21	46.12	60.91
	7/7/2016	101.85	96.58	106.83	90.14	98.85
	8/2/2016	-2.75	7.03	-1.50	0.90	0.92
	Mean ±SE ^[y]	85.37±39.45	33.81±15.31	79.47±36.72	42.72±19.55	53.71±18.23
Year 2	11/17/2016	40.16	39.64	10.01	1.44	22.81
	11/22/2016	45.84	14.04	18.86	8.89	21.90
	12/1/2016	49.36	111.22	54.18	1.29	54.01
	4/25/2017	57.69	11.49	284.07	8.86	90.53
	5/16/2017	335.32	196.84	416.38	289.39	309.48
	6/9/2017	35.17	35.45	109.77	51.64	58.01
	7/10/2017	69.94	79.46	296.09	62.02	126.87
	8/10/2017	15.65	11.55	54.88	54.26	34.08
	Mean ±SE ^[y]	30.62±13.04	35.82±15.83	87.57±38.85	15.44±6.96	33.52±10.71

Table 4.2 Average nitrous oxide fluxes (μ g N₂O-N m⁻² h⁻¹) after nitrgoen application for the four Treatments based on sampling day (Time) for Year 1 and Year 2.

^[y]Mean \pm SE = Estimated mean \pm Standard Error obtained from Year * Treatment Least Squared means table.

 $^{[z]}$ MB = solid beef cattle manure with bedding; MO = solid beef cattle manure only, UO = urea only; NF = no-fertilizer.

The analysis showed average N₂O fluxes were significantly affected by treatments (P < 0.05). However, only flux from UO was significantly different compared to NF (Figure 4.5). The average (\pm SE) N₂O flux from UO was 79.6 (\pm 24.9) µg N₂O-N m⁻² h⁻¹, whereas from NF, it was 24.6 (\pm 7.7) µg N₂O-N m⁻² h⁻¹. The N₂O fluxes from manure treated plots were not significantly different than UO and NF (Figure 4.5). The average flux (±SE) from manure treatments MB and MO were 49.0 (±15.1) and 33.3 (±10.3) μ g N₂O-N m⁻² h⁻¹, respectively. Year and interaction of Year with Treatment did not show any significant effects on N₂O fluxes. The average (±SE) N₂O fluxes were 53.71 (±18.23) μ g N₂O-N m⁻² h⁻¹ for Year 1 and 33.52 (±10.71) μ g N₂O-N m⁻² h⁻¹ for Year 2.



Figure 4.5 Average soil nitrous oxide flux with standard error (vertical lines) from solid beef cattle manure with bedding (MB), solid beef cattle manure only (MO), urea only, and no-fertilizer (NF) treatments for two corn growing seasons (2015/16 and 2016/17). The letters above the bars denote the least square means differences at P < 0.05.

Miller et al. (2014) conducted a study to compare long-term land application of stockpiled feedlot beef manure with bedding (barley straw and woodchips) on C/N ratio, denitrification, and carbon dioxide emission in southern Alberta, starting in 1998. They annually applied stockpiled feedlot manure with bedding at the rate of 77 Mg (dry weight) ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ for 13 to 14 years to a clay loam soil. The measurement for

denitrification fluxes were taken in 2011 and 2012 (every 2 weeks between May and August). They found mean N₂O fluxes for manure with straw bedding were between 3.7 and 4491.7 μ g N₂O-N m⁻² h⁻¹ (0.9 and 1078 g N₂O-N ha⁻¹d⁻¹), from 3.3 to 1358.3 μ g N₂O-N m⁻² h⁻¹ (0.8 to 326 g N₂O-N ha⁻¹ d⁻¹) for manure with woodchips bedding, and 2.5 and 1041.7 μ g N₂O-N m⁻² h⁻¹ (0.6 to 250 g N₂O-N ha⁻¹ d⁻¹) for control. However, they observed that total N, daily denitrification flux, and daily carbon dioxide flux were not affected by bedding materials. Akiyama and Tsuruta (2003) measured N₂O flux for poultry manure (PM), swine manure (SM), and urea applied to soil using an automated flux monitoring system. They found the total fluxes were 21, 7, and 5 μ g N₂O-N m⁻² h⁻¹ (184, 61.3, and 44.8 mg N₂O-N m⁻² y⁻¹) from PM, SM, and urea, respectively.

Engel et al. (2010) studied the effect of urea placements (broadcast, band, and nest) on N₂O emission from a silt loam soil. The rate of urea application was 200 kg N ha⁻¹. They found maximum N₂O flux for broadcast surface, broadcast incorporated, band, nest, and control were 61.7, 55, 103.3, 117.1, and 12.9 μ g N₂O-N m⁻² h⁻¹ (14.8, 13.2, 24.1, 28.1, and 3.1 g N₂O-N ha⁻¹ d⁻¹), respectively. The maximum mean N₂O flux (79.6 (±24.9) μ g N₂O-N m⁻² h⁻¹) in our study was very low compared to the maximum fluxes reported by Miller et al. (2014), it might be because of lower rate of solid beef manure application (about half application rate), different bedding material used (corn Stover vs barley straw and woodchips), different gas measurement technique (Static Chamber derived by Parkin and Venterea, 2010 vs gas measured by using Chang et al. (1998) method), and weather condition. However, our study showed higher N₂O fluxes than the fluxes reported by Akiyama and Tsuruta (2003), and this difference is likely related to soil properties (Silty clay loam vs Andisol (Volcanic ash soil)), types and rate of N

sources, sampling method, and different climatic condition. In contrast, the N_2O flux obtained for broadcast incorporated N placement by Engel et al. (2010) study, was similar to N_2O fluxes from urea treated plots from our study.

4.4 Conclusions

A two-year field study was conducted to investigate NH₃ and N₂O fluxes from silty clay loam field after application of manure with and without bedding and urea in fall. Our study showed that soil N₂O, NH₃ fluxes, and soil water nitrate were not significantly different between solid beef cattle manure (with and without bedding) and urea. The N₂O flux from UO was significantly higher than flux from NF, and NH_3 flux from MB was significantly greater than flux from NF. The N₂O fluxes from manure treated plots were not significantly different with UO and NF. Similarly, NH₃ fluxes from MO and UO were not significantly different than either MB or NF. We observed the NH₃ flux for MB was higher after application of N during the first week of sampling and decreased thereafter. The variation in soil fluxes compared to previous studies could be due to sources of N, manure characteristics (total N, total C, bedding, ammoniacal N), total soil NO₃⁻-N, available soil ammonium-N, method used for samples collection and flux calculation, soil types, and weather condition. Understanding soil fluxes and affecting factors will help us to minimize the possible N losses as gases forms from soil volume and will help to reduce environmental impact by those soil fluxes.
CHAPTER 5 DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

5.1 Summary

The study was conducted for comparison of bedded versus non-bedded solid beef cattle manure, as well as urea and no-fertilizer effects on soil NO₃⁻-N, crop characteristic, crop yield, and soil N losses on the silty clay loam soil type in the Northern Great Plains region. The total soil NO_3 -N, NH₃ flux, and N₂O flux were significantly affected by treatments, whereas soil water NO₃-N concentration was not significantly different among the fall-applied manures and fertilizer treatments and control. Total soil NO₃⁻-N was significantly higher for UO treatment compared to others three treatments, whereas the total soil NO_3^{-} -N concentrations were not significantly different for MB, MO, and NF. The average NH₃ flux was significantly greater for MB compared to NF, however, the NH₃ fluxes from MO and UO were not significantly different than MB and NF. Soil N₂O flux for UO was significantly higher than NF, while this fluxes from manure treated plots (MB and MO) were not significantly different from either UO or NF. The study did not show any notable change in soil water NO_3^- -N concentration among the treatments from observation between corn emergence stage and V6 stage, although the lowest soil water NO_3 -N concentration was found in MB treated plots. However, the soil water NO_3 --N concentration significantly changed between Year 1 and Year 2. Furthermore, corn leaf-N and grain-N tended to be affected by treatments, however, corn yield was not affected by either treatment in Year 1.

Our study was based on plot-scale sampling, coupled with manual N (manure and urea) application, which was not entirely indicative of full-scale conditions. However, the benefits of tighter control of treatment conditions of our study provide a more accurate

dataset for comparative analyses and model application. Our study helped to document the effects of solid beef cattle manure with and without bedding on various path of soil N losses and corn N characteristics. The secondary use of our study data is for modeling purposes, such as in the Integrated Farm System Model (derived by C.A. Rotz). Modeling helps to further understand factors and processes affecting nutrient transformations and release during corn production with beef cattle manure fertilizer. The ultimate selection of management practices by producers is based on many factors including environmental losses, climate and soil factors, and economic conditions.

5.2 Lesson learned from this research and future work

The results from this research enhances the understanding of N loss mechanism and transformation processes in silty clay loam soil. Furthermore, the research helps us understand how the nitrogen source, or treatment characteristics, influence N losses. To understand the soil N losses, crop characteristics (leaf-N and grain-N), and yield, it is important to understand the total soil N and the transformation processes and factors affecting them. The study revealed that urea associated plots obtained the highest total soil NO₃⁻-N concentration, leaf-N, grain-N, and yield. However, only total soil NO₃⁻-N for urea plots were significantly different than remaining treatments (P < 0.05). Soil water nitrate concentrations were not significantly different between any treatments. Soil water nitrate for Year 1 was significantly higher than Year 2. Our study depicted that soil water nitrate concentration depends on rainfall and available soil nitrate. The study reinforced that NH₃ fluxes are higher after N application and similar for all N treatments during the corn growing period. However, the amount of NH₃ flux was dependent on the rate of N, weather and soil conditions.

The N_2O fluxes in fall were lower than in spring. There was no significant difference between manure and urea treatments. However, urea treated plots showed significantly higher N_2O flux than no-fertilizer. The N_2O flux appeared to vary based on plant-available N. The flux correction method accounted for the potential effects of soil temperature and soil moisture.

From the two-year study, we captured the manure and fertilizer effects on total soil NO_3 ⁻-N, N losses, leaf-N, grain-N, and yield under corn production. These information helps us to select the management practice that release less soil N, however each management practices have their own additional pros and cons.

In the future, the study can be improved for greenhouse gas measurement by using automated gas measurement techniques. Manual static gas chamber methods can alter soil and microclimatic conditions and provide low temporal frequency data (Yao et al., 2009). Bias can be reduced by frequently changing the position of chambers and/or opening the chambers automatically during rainfall events (Yao et al., 2009). Automated measurement techniques can take automatic continuous or near-continuous measurements which may improve flux estimation and capture diurnal variations (Flessa et al., 2002; Yao et al., 2009). The static chamber method used in our research provided a means of comparing flux based on nitrogen application treatment. In the future, use of automated chamber techniques will further the quantification of diurnal and annual cumulative soil fluxes for manure management practices in the Northern Great Plains.

REFERENCES

- Adviento-Borbe, M. A., Kaye, J. P., Bruns, M. A., McDaniel, M. D., McCoy, M., & Harkcom, S. (2010). Soil greenhouse gas and ammonia emissions in long-term maize-based cropping systems. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 74(5), 1623-1634.
- Agnew, J., Lague, C., Schoenau, J., Feddes, J., & Guo, H. (2010). Effect of manure type, application rate, and application method on odours from manure spreading. *Canadian Biosystems Engineering*, *52*, 619-629.
- Ahmed, S. I., Mickelson, S. K., Pederson, C. H., Baker, J. L., Kanwar, R. S., Lorimor, J. C., & Webber, D. F. (2013). Swine manure rate, timing, and application method effects on post-harvest soil nutrients, crop yield, and potential water quality implications in a corn-soybean rotation. *Transactions of the ASABE*, 56(2), 395-408.
- Airaksinen, S., Heinonen-Tanski, H., & Heiskanen, M. (2001). Quality of different bedding materials and their influence on the compostability of horse manure. *Journal of Equine Veterinary Science*, 21(3), 125-130.
- Akiyama, H., & Tsuruta, H. (2003). Nitrous oxide, nitric oxide, and nitrogen dioxide fluxes from soils after manure and urea application. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, *32*(2), 423-431.
- Allaire-Leung, S., Wu, L., Mitchell, J., & Sanden, B. (2001). Nitrate leaching and soil nitrate content as affected by irrigation uniformity in a carrot field. *Agricultural Water Management*, 48(1), 37-50.
- Al-Kanani, T., & MacKenzie, A. F. (1992). Effect of tillage practices and hay straw on ammonia volatilization from nitrogen fertilizer solutions. *Canadian Journal of Soil Science*, 72(2), 145-157.
- Amiri, M. E., & Fallahi, E. (2009). Impact of animal manure on soil chemistry, mineral nutrients, yield, and fruit quality in 'Golden Delicious' apple. *Journal of Plant Nutrition*, 32(4), 610-617.
- Amon, B., Kryvoruchko, V., Amon, T., & Zechmeister-Boltenstern, S. (2006). Methane, nitrous oxide and ammonia emissions during storage and after application of dairy cattle slurry and influence of slurry treatment. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 112*(2), 153-162.
- Andreae, M. O., & Schimel, D. S. (1990). *Exchange of Trace Gases between Terrestrial Ecosystems and the Atmosphere*. New York, NY: John Wiley and Sons Inc.
- Aneja, V. P., Blunden, J., James, K., Schlesinger, W. H., Knighton, R., Gilliam, W., . . . Cole, S. (2008). Ammonia assessment from agriculture: US status and needs. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 37(2), 515-520.
- Aronsson, P. G., & Bergström, L. F. (2001). Nitrate leaching from lysimeter-grown shortrotation willow coppice in relation to N-application, irrigation and soil type. *Biomass and Bioenergy*, 21(3), 155-164. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0961-9534(01)00022-8

- Baligar, V. C., Fageria, N. K., & He, Z. L. (2001). Nutrient use efficiency in plants. Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis, 32(7-8), 921-950. doi: 10.1081/CSS-100104098
- Ball-Coelho, B., Roy, R., & Bruin, A. (2004). Nitrate leaching as affected by liquid swine manure and cover cropping in sandy soil of southwestern Ontario. *Canadian Journal of Soil Science*, 84(2), 187-197.
- Basso, B., & Ritchie, J. T. (2005). Impact of compost, manure and inorganic fertilizer on nitrate leaching and yield for a 6-year maize-alfalfa rotation in Michigan. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 108*(4), 329-341.
- Battye, R., Battye, W., Overcash, C., & Fudge, S. (1994). Development and selection of ammonia emission factors: Final report. Research Triangle Park, NC: US. Environmental Protection Agency, Atmospheric Research and Exposure Assessment Laboratory.
- Baumhardt, R., Stewart, B., & Sainju, U. (2015). North American soil degradation: processes, practices, and mitigating strategies. *Sustainability*, 7(3), 2936-2960.
- Beauchamp, E., Kidd, G., & Thurtell, G. (1982). Ammonia volatilization from liquid dairy cattle manure in the field. *Canadian Journal of Soil Science*, 62(1), 11-19.
- Beauchamp, E. G. (1997). Nitrous oxide emission from agricultural soils. *Canadian Journal of Soil Science*, 77(2), 113-123.
- Behera, S. N., & Sharma, M. (2010). Investigating the potential role of ammonia in ion chemistry of fine particulate matter formation for an urban environment. *Science of the Total Environment*, 408(17), 3569-3575.
- Bernhard, A. (2010). The nitrogen cycle: Processes, players, and human impact. *Nature Education Knowledge*, 2(2), 12.
- Bey, R., Reneau, J. K., & Farnsworth, R. J. (2002). The role of bedding management in udder health. Paper presented at the Proceedings 41st Annual Meeting-National Mastitis Council, Orlando, FL, Feb. 03 - 06, 2002.
- Bierman, P. M., & Rosen, C. J. (2005). Nutrient cycling and maintaining soil fertility in fruit and vegetable crop systems. Retrieved from University of Minnesota Extension website: https://www.extension.umn.edu/garden/fruitvegetable/nutrient-cycling-and-fertility/
- Binford, G. D. (2010). Amounts of nutrients removed in corn grain at harvest in Delaware. Paper presented at the Proceedings of the 19th world congress of soil science, soil solution for a changing world, Brisbane, Australia, Aug. 01 – 06, 2010.
- Bittman, S., Brook, J. R., Bleeker, A., & Bruulsema, T. W. (2014). Air Quality, Health Effects and Management of Ammonia Emissions from Fertilizers. In E. Taylor & A. McMillan (Eds.), Air Quality Management: Canadian Perspectives on a Global Issue (pp. 261-277). Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands.

- Bouwman, A., Boumans, L., & Batjes, N. (2002). Estimation of global NH3 volatilization loss from synthetic fertilizers and animal manure applied to arable lands and grasslands. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles*, *16*(2).
- Bouwman, A., Lee, D., Asman, W., Dentener, F., Van Der Hoek, K., & Olivier, J. (1997). A global high-resolution emission inventory for ammonia. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles*, 11(4), 561-587.
- Bremner, J. M. (1965a). Inorganic forms of nitrogen. In A. G. Norman (Ed.), *Methods of soil analysis. Part 2. Chemical and microbiological properties* (pp. 1179-1237).
 Madison, WI: American Society of Agronomy, Soil Science Society of America.
- Bremner, J. M. (1965b). Total nitrogen. In A. G. Norman (Ed.), Methods of soil analysis. Part 2. Chemical and microbiological properties (pp. 1149-1178). Madison, WI: American Society of Agronomy, Soil Science Society of America.
- Bremner, J. M. (1997). Sources of nitrous oxide in soils. *Nutrient Cycling in* Agroecosystems, 49(1), 7-16.
- Bruulsema, T. W., Lemunyon, J., & Herz, B. (2009). Know your fertilizer rights. *Crops* and Soils, 42(2), 13-18.
- Bruulsema, T. W., Witt, C., García, F., Li, S., Rao, T. N., Chen, F., & Ivanova, S. (2011). A global framework for fertilizer BMPs. Retrieved from International Plant Nutrition Institute website: http://eeca-en.ipni.net/article/EECAEN-2003.
- Bryla, D. R. (2011). Application of the "4R" nutrient stewardship concept to horticultural crops: getting nutrients in the "right" place. *HortTechnology*, 21(6), 674-682.
- Cai, Z., Gao, S., Hendratna, A., Duan, Y., Xu, M., & Hanson, B. (2016). Key factors, soil nitrogen processes, and nitrite accumulation affecting nitrous oxide emissions. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 80(6), 1560-1571.
- Camargo, J. A., Alonso, A., & Salamanca, A. (2005). Nitrate toxicity to aquatic animals: a review with new data for freshwater invertebrates. *Chemosphere*, *58*(9), 1255-1267.
- Cameron, K. C., Di, H. J., & Moir, J. L. (2013). Nitrogen losses from the soil/plant system: a review. *Annals of Applied Biology*, *162*(2), 145-173. doi: 10.1111/aab.12014
- Campbell, C., Zentner, R., & Jong, R. D. (1984). Effect of cropping, summerfallow and fertilizer nitrogen on nitrate-nitrogen lost by leaching on a Brown Chernozemic loam. *Canadian Journal of Soil Science*, 64(1), 61-74.
- Carpenter, S. R., Caraco, N. F., Correll, D. L., Howarth, R. W., Sharpley, A. N., & Smith, V. H. (1998). Nonpoint pollution of surface waters with phosphorus and nitrogen. *Ecological Applications*, 8(3), 559-568.
- Cassman, K. G., Dobermann, A., & Walters, D. T. (2002). Agroecosystems, nitrogen-use efficiency, and nitrogen management. *AMBIO: A Journal of the Human Environment*, *31*(2), 132-140.

- CFI. (2001). *Nutrient uptake and removal by field crops-Western Canada*. Retrived from Canadian Fertilizer Institute: http://mfga.net/resources/535-nutrient-uptake-and-removal-by-field-crops-western-canada/#bottom.
- Chapuis-Lardy, L., Wrage, N., Metay, A., Chotte, J.-L., & Bernoux, M. (2007). Soils, a sink for N2O? A review. *Global Change Biology*, *13*(1), 1-17. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2486.2006.01280.x
- Charles, W., Mahdi, A.-K., Matt, H., John, S., Daniel, D., Charles, B., . . . Jim, S. (2013). Agricultural Nitrogen Management for Water Quality Protection in the Midwest (Report: RP189 Revised). Retreived from Heartland Regional Water Coordination Initiative website http://extensionpublications.unl.edu/assets/pdf/rp189.pdf.
- Crohn, D. (2004). *Nitrogen mineralization and its importance in organic waste recycling*. Paper presented at the Proceedings, National Alfalfa Symposium. San Diego, CA, Dec. 13-15, 2004.
- Crutzen, P. J. (1972). SST's: A threat to the earth's ozone shield. Ambio, 1(2), 41-51.
- Crutzen, P. J. (1974). Estimates of possible variations in total ozone due to natural causes and human activities. *Ambio*, *3*(9), 201-210.
- Czapar, G. F., Laflen, J. M., McIsaac, G. F., & McKenna, D. P. (2008). Effects of erosion control practices on nutrient loss. In U. M. R. S.-b. H. N. Committee (Ed.), *Final Report: Gulf Hypoxia and Local Water Quality Concerns Workshop* (pp. 117-127). St. Joseph, MI: ASABE.
- Dabek-Zlotorzynska, E., Dann, T. F., Martinelango, P. K., Celo, V., Brook, J. R., Mathieu, D., . . . Austin, C. C. (2011). Canadian National Air Pollution Surveillance (NAPS) PM 2.5 speciation program: methodology and PM 2.5 chemical composition for the years 2003–2008. *Atmospheric Environment*, 45(3), 673-686.
- Daigh, A. L., Zhou, X., Helmers, M. J., Pederson, C. H., Horton, R., Jarchow, M., & Liebman, M. (2015). Subsurface drainage nitrate and total reactive phosphorus losses in bioenergy-based prairies and corn systems. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 44(5), 1638-1646.
- DeLuca, T. H., & DeLuca, D. K. (1997). Composting for feedlot manure management and soil quality. *Journal of Production Agriculture*, *10*(2), 235-241. doi: 10.2134/jpa1997.0235
- Dinnes, D. L., Karlen, D. L., Jaynes, D. B., Kaspar, T. C., Hatfield, J. L., Colvin, T. S., & Cambardella, C. A. (2002). Nitrogen management strategies to reduce nitrate leaching in tile-drained Midwestern soils. *Agronomy Journal*, 94(1), 153-171.
- DNR, W. (2014). *Nitrate in Drinking Water* (PUB-DG-001). Retrieved from Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources website: http://www.fallcreekwi.gov/wp/?wpfb_dl=161.
- Dusenbury, M., Engel, R., Miller, P., Lemke, R., & Wallander, R. (2008). Nitrous oxide emissions from a northern great plains soil as influenced by nitrogen management and cropping systems. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, *37*(2), 542-550.

- Dustan, A. 2002. *Review of methane and nitrous oxide emission factors for manure management in cold climates* (JTI-LI--299). JTI–Institutet for jordbruks-och miljoteknik, Sweden.
- E. Gilley, J., & M. Risse, L. (2000). Runoff and soil loss as affected by the application of manure. *Transactions of the ASAE*, 43(6), 1583. doi: https://doi.org/10.13031/2013.3058
- EIA. (2011). Emissions of Greenhouse Gases in the United States 2009 (Annual Report). Washington, DC: United States Energy Information Adminstration. Retrieved from https://www.eia.gov/environment/emissions/ghg_report/pdf/0573%282009%29.p df.
- Elmi, A., Madani, A., Gordon, R., MacDonald, P., & Stratton, G. (2005). Nitrate nitrogen in the soil profile and drainage water as influenced by manure and mineral fertilizer application in a barley-carrot production system. *Water, Air and Soil Pollution, 160*(1-4), 119.
- Engel, R., Liang, D., Wallander, R., & Bembenek, A. (2010). Influence of urea fertilizer placement on nitrous oxide production from a silt loam soil. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 39(1), 115-125.
- EPA. (2013). Global mitigation of non-CO2 greenhouse gases: 2010-2030 (Technical Report-430-R-13-011). Washington, DC: U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. Retrieved from http://www.epa.gov/climatechange/EPAactivities/economics/nonco2projections.h tml.
- EPA. (2016). Inventory of U.S. greenhouse gas emissions and sinks: 1990-2014 (Technical Report- 430-R-16-002). Washington, DC: U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. Retrieved from https://www.epa.gov/ghgemissions/inventoryus-greenhouse-gas-emissions-and-sinks-1990-2014.
- EPA. (2002). 2002 Edition of the drinking water standards and health advisories. Washington DC: US Environmental Protection Agency. Retrieved from https://nepis.epa.gov/Exe/ZyPDF.cgi/9100K0RN.PDF?Dockey=9100K0RN.PDF.
- EPA. (2006). Global anthropogenic non-CO2 greenhouse gas emissions: 1990–2020 (Revised report). Washington, DC: Office of Atmospheric Programs Climate Change Division, United States Environmental Protection Agency. Retrieved from

https://nepis.epa.gov/Exe/ZyPDF.cgi/2000ZL5G.PDF?Dockey=2000ZL5G.PDF.

- Fageria, N., & Baligar, V. (2005). Enhancing nitrogen use efficiency in crop plants. *Advances in Agronomy*, 88, 97-185.
- Flessa, H., Ruser, R., Schilling, R., Loftfield, N., Munch, J. C., Kaiser, E. A., & Beese, F. (2002). N2O and CH4 fluxes in potato fields: automated measurement, management effects and temporal variation. *Geoderma*, 105(3), 307-325. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/S0016-7061(01)00110-0

- Follett, J. R., Follett, R., & Herz, W. C. (2010). Environmental and human impacts of reactive nitrogen. In J. A. Delgado & R. F. Follett (Eds.), Advances in Nitrogen Management for Water Quality (pp. 1-37). Ankeny, IA: Soil and Water Conservation Society.
- Follett, R. F. (1995). Fate and transport of nutrients: Nitrogen (Working Paper No. 7). Retrived from United States Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service website: https://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/national/landuse/crops/?cid=nrc s143_014202.
- Follett, R. F. (2008). Chapter 2 Transformation and Transport Processes of Nitrogen in Agricultural Systems. In *Nitrogen in the Environment (Second Edition)* (pp. 19-50). San Diego: Academic Press.
- Follett, R. F., & Hatfield, J. L. (2001). Nitrogen in the environment: sources, problems, and management. *Scientific World Journal*, 1, 920-926. doi: 10.1100/tsw.2001.269
- Foster, G. R., Young, R. A., Römkens, M. J., & Onstad, C. A. (1985). Processes of soil erosion by water. In R. F. Follett & B. A. Stewart (Eds.), *Soil Erosion and Crop Productivity* (pp. 137-162). Madison, Wisconsin: USA American Society of Agronomy, Inc., Crop Science Society of America, Inc.
- Franzen, D. W. (2010). North Dakota fertilizer recommendation tables and equations: based on soil test levels and yield goals (SF-882 Revised). Retrieved from North Dakota State University Agriculture and Extention website: https://www.ag.ndsu.edu/publications/crops/north-dakota-fertilizerrecommendation-tables-and-equations.
- Galloway, J. N., Hiram Levy, I., & Kasibhatla, P. S. (1994). Year 2020: Consequences of population growth and development on deposition of oxidized nitrogen. *Ambio*, v. 23(2), 120-123.
- Galloway, J. N., Townsend, A. R., Erisman, J. W., Bekunda, M., Cai, Z., Freney, J. R., . . . Sutton, M. A. (2008). Transformation of the nitrogen cycle: Recent trends, questions, and potential solutions. *Science*, 320(5878), 889-892. doi: 10.1126/science.1136674
- Gay, S. W., & Knowlton, K. F. (2005). Ammonia emissions and animal agriculture. Retrieved from Virginia Cooperative Extension, Virginia State University website: http://pubs.ext.vt.edu/442/442-110/442-110.html.
- Gelderman, R., Tjardes, K., Berg, R., Gerwing, J., Rops, B., Bly, A., & Bortnem, T. (2004). Crop nutrient management using manure from rations containing distiller grain. Agricultural Experiment Station, Brookings, SD. Retrieved from https://openprairie.sdstate.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?referer=https://www.google.co m/&httpsredir=1&article=1041&context=agexperimentsta_rsp

- Gentry, L., David, M., Royer, T., Mitchell, C., & Starks, K. (2007). Phosphorus transport pathways to streams in tile-drained agricultural watersheds. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, *36*(2), 408-415.
- Gerwig, J., & Gelderman, R. (2005). South Dakota fertilizer recommendations guide. Retrieved from iGrow South Dakota State University Extension website: https://igrow.org/up/resources/EC750.pdf
- Gong, L., Lewicki, R., Griffin, R. J., Tittel, F. K., Lonsdale, C. R., Stevens, R. G., . . . Bobmanuel, L. M. (2013). Role of atmospheric ammonia in particulate matter formation in Houston during summertime. *Atmospheric Environment*, Vol. 77, Pages 893-900. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2013.04.079
- Goolsby, D. A., & Battaglin, W. A. (2000). Nitrogen in the Mississippi Basin -Estimating Sources and Predicting Flux to the Gulf of Mexico [Fact Sheet 135-00]. Reston, VA: Office of Water Quality, United State Geological Survey. Retrieved from https://pubs.usgs.gov/fs/2000/0135/report.pdf.
- Goolsby, D. A., Battaglin, W. A., Aulenbach, B. T., & Hooper, R. P. (2001). Nitrogen input to the Gulf of Mexico. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, *30*(2), 329-336.
- Gordon, R., Jamieson, R., Rodd, V., Patterson, G., & Harz, T. (2001). Effects of surface manure application timing on ammonia volatilization. *Canadian Journal of Soil Science*, 81(4), 525-533.
- Grace, P. R., Robertson, G. P., Millar, N., Colunga-Garcia, M., Basso, B., Gage, S. H., & Hoben, J. (2011). The contribution of maize cropping in the Midwest USA to global warming: A regional estimate. *Agricultural Systems*, 104(3), 292-296.
- Grant, C. A., Peterson, G. A., & Campbell, C. A. (2002). Nutrient considerations for diversified cropping systems in the northern Great Plains. *Agronomy Journal*, 94(2), 186-198.
- Hao, X., Chang, C., Carefoot, J., Janzen, H., & Ellert, B. (2001). Nitrous oxide emissions from an irrigated soil as affected by fertilizer and straw management. *Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems*, 60(1), 1-8.
- Hart, S. C., Stark, J. M., Davidson, E. A., & Firestone, M. K. (1994). Nitrogen mineralization, immobilization, and nitrification. *Methods of Soil Analysis: Part* 2—Microbiological and Biochemical Properties, 985-1018.
- Hatfield, J., & Cambardella, C. (2001). Nutrient management in cropping systems. In J. McFarland and M. Sanderson (ed.) *Integrated management of land application of animal waste*. (In press.) Am. Soc. of Agric. Eng., St. Joseph, MI.
- Havlin, J. L., Beaton, J. D., Nelson, W. L., & Tisdale, S. L. (2005). Soil fertility and fertilizers: An introduction to nutrient management (Vol. 515): Pearson Prentice Hall Upper Saddle River, NJ.
- Haynes, R. J., Cameron, K. C., Goh, K. M., & Sherlock, R. R. (1986). Uptake and assimilation of mineral nitrogen by plants. In R. J. Haynes (Ed.), *Mineral Nitrogen in the Plant–Soil System* (pp. 303-378). Orlando, Florida: Academic

- Heard, J., & Hay, D. (2006). Typical nutrient content, uptake pattern and Carbon: Nitrogen ratios of Prairie crops. Paper presented at the Proceedings of 7th Annual Manitoba Agronomists Conference. Winnipeg, MB, Canada: University of Manitoba. Dec. 12-13, 2006.
- Hepperly, P., Lotter, D., Ulsh, C. Z., Seidel, R., & Reider, C. (2009). Compost, manure and synthetic fertilizer influences crop yields, soil properties, nitrate leaching and crop nutrient content. *Compost Science & Utilization*, *17*(2), 117-126.
- Hernandez-Ramirez, G., Brouder, S. M., Smith, D. R., & Van Scoyoc, G. E. (2009). Greenhouse gas fluxes in an eastern corn belt soil: weather, nitrogen source, and rotation. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 38(3), 841-854.
- Hernandez, J. A., & Schmitt, M. A. (2012). Manure management in Minnesota. *Publ. WW-03553. Rev.*
- Hoag, D., A. E. Luloff, and D. L., & Osmond. (2012). How farmers and ranchers make decisions on conservation practices [Fact sheet 3]. Retrieved from Natural Resources Conservation Service website: https://www.nrcs.usda.gov/Internet/FSE_DOCUMENTS/stelprdb1047816.pdf
- Hodan, W., & Barnard, W. R. (2004, June). Evaluating the contribution of PM2. 5 precursor gases and re-entrained road emissions to mobile source PM2. 5 particulate matter emissions. Paper presented at the 13th International Emission Inventory Conference. Clearwater, FL, Jun. 8-10, 2004.
- Hoos, A. B., Robinson, J. A., Aycock, R. A., Knight, R. R., & Woodside, M. D. (2000). Sources, instream transport, and trends of nitrogen, phosphorus, and sediment in the lower Tennessee River basin, 1980-96 (Report No. 99-4139). Retrieved from U.S. Geological Survey website: https://pubs.usgs.gov/wri/wri994139/txt2.pdf
- Hristov, A., Hanigan, M., Cole, A., Todd, R., McAllister, T., Ndegwa, P., & Rotz, A. (2011). Ammonia emissions from dairy farms and beef feedlots. *Canadian Journal of Animal Science*, 91(1), 1-35.
- Huijsmans, J., Hol, J., & Vermeulen, G. (2003). Effect of application method, manure characteristics, weather and field conditions on ammonia volatilization from manure applied to arable land. *Atmospheric Environment*, *37*(26), 3669-3680.
- International Fertilizer Industry Association, I. (2001). *Global estimates of gaseous emissions of NH3, NO and N2O from agricultural land*. Rome, Italy: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO).
- IPCC. (2007). Contribution of Working Group III to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY: Cambridge University Press, Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Retrieved from http://www.ipcc.ch/pdf/assessmentreport/ar4/wg3/ar4_wg3_full_report.pdf.
- IPCC. (2014). Climate Change 2014: Mitigation of Climate Change. Contribution of Working Group III to the Fifth Assessment (Report). Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY: Cambridge University Press, Intergovernmental Panel on

Climate Change. Retrieved from http://www.ipcc.ch/pdf/assessment-report/ar5/wg3/ipcc_wg3_ar5_full.pdf.

- Islam, R., & Reeder, R. (2014). No-till and conservation agriculture in the United States: an example from the David Brandt farm, Carroll, Ohio. *International Soil and Water Conservation Research*, 2(1), 97-107.
- Jantalia, C. P., Halvorson, A. D., Follett, R. F., Rodrigues Alves, B. J., Polidoro, J. C., & Urquiaga, S. (2012). Nitrogen source effects on ammonia volatilization as measured with semi-static chambers. *Agronomy Journal*, 104(6), 1595-1603.
- Janzen, H., Beauchemin, K., Bruinsma, Y., Campbell, C., Desjardins, R., Ellert, B., & Smith, E. (2003). The fate of nitrogen in agroecosystems: An illustration using Canadian estimates. *Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems*, *67*(1), 85-102.
- Jarecki, M. K., Parkin, T. B., Chan, A. S., Hatfield, J. L., & Jones, R. (2008). Greenhouse gas emissions from two soils receiving nitrogen fertilizer and swine manure slurry. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 37(4), 1432-1438.
- Johnson, C., Albrecht, G., Ketterings, Q., Beckman, J., & Stockin, K. (2005). Nitrogen basics-The Nitrogen Cycle [Fact Sheet 2]. Agronomy Fact Series. Ithaca, NY: Cornell University Cooperative Extension. Retrieved from http://nmsp.cals.cornell.edu/publications/factsheets/factsheet2.pdf.
- Johnston, A., & Bruulsema, T. (2014). 4R nutrient stewardship for improved nutrient use efficiency. *Procedia Engineering*, 83, 365-370.
- Jokela, W., & Randall, G. (1989). Corn yield and residual soil nitrate as affected by time and rate of nitrogen application. *Agronomy Journal*, 81(5), 720-726.
- Jokela, W. E. (1992). Nitrogen fertilizer and dairy manure effects on corn yield and soil nitrate. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, *56*(1), 148-154.
- Jones, C. A., Brown, B. D., Engel, R. E., Horneck, D., & Olson-Rutz, K. (2013). Mangement to minimize nitrogen fertilizer volatilization (EB0209). Retrieved from Montana State University Extension website: http://msuextension.org/publications/AgandNaturalResources/EB0209.pdf.
- Jones, C. A., Koenig, R. T., Ellsworth, J. W., Brown, B. D., & Jackson, G. D. (2007). Management of urea fertilizer to minimize volatilization (EB 173). Retrieved from Montana State University Extension website: http://www.extension.uidaho.edu/Nutrient/pdf/smallgrain/New/Management%20 of%20Urea%20fertilizer%20to%20minimize%20volatilization.pdf.
- Karimi, R., Akinremi, W., & Flaten, D. (2017). Cropping system and type of pig manure affect nitrate-nitrogen leaching in a sandy loam soil. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 46(4), 785-792.
- Ketterings, Q., Albrecht, G., Czymmek, K., & Brossard, B. (2005). Nitrogen credits from manure [Fact Sheet 4]. Agronomy Fact Series. Ithaca, NY: Cornell University Cooperative Extension. Retrieved from http://nmsp.cals.cornell.edu/publications/factsheets/factsheet4.pdf.

- Khaleel, R., Reddy, K., & Overcash, M. (1981). Changes in soil physical properties due to organic waste applications: a review. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 10(2), 133-141.
- Knisel, W. G. (1980). CREAMS: A field scale model for chemicals, runoff, and erosion from agricultural management systems [USA]. *United States. Dept. of Agriculture. Conservation research report (USA).*
- Kovács, P., & Vyn, T. J. (2017). Relationships between Ear-Leaf Nutrient Concentrations at Silking and Corn Biomass and Grain Yields at Maturity. *Agronomy Journal*, 109(6), 2898-2906.
- Krupa, S. (2003). Effects of atmospheric ammonia (NH3) on terrestrial vegetation: a review. *Environmental Pollution*, *124*(2), 179-221.
- Lamb, J. A., Fernandez, F. G., & Kaiser, D. E. (2014). Understanding nitrogen in soils (AG-FO-3770-B-Revised). St. Paul, MN: University of Minnesota Extension. Retrieved from https://www.extension.umn.edu/agriculture/nutrientmanagement/nitrogen/understanding-nitrogen-in-soils/docs/AG-FO-3770-B.pdf.
- Loecke, T. D., Liebman, M., Cambardella, C. A., & Richard, T. L. (2004). Corn response to composting and time of application of solid swine manure. *Agronomy Journal*, *96*(1), 214-223.
- Maag, M., & Vinther, F. P. (1996). Nitrous oxide emission by nitrification and denitrification in different soil types and at different soil moisture contents and temperatures. *Applied Soil Ecology*, *4*(1), 5-14.
- Maaroufi, N. I., Nordin, A., Hasselquist, N. J., Bach, L. H., Palmqvist, K., & Gundale, M. J. (2015). Anthropogenic nitrogen deposition enhances carbon sequestration in boreal soils. *Global Change Biology*, 21(8), 3169-3180.
- Mallarino, A. P., & Wittry, D. J. (2010). Crop yield and soil phosphorus as affected by liquid swine manure phosphorus application using variable-rate technology. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, *74*(6), 2230-2238.
- Mathieu, O., Lévêque, J., Hénault, C., Milloux, M.-J., Bizouard, F., & Andreux, F. (2006). Emissions and spatial variability of N2O, N2 and nitrous oxide mole fraction at the field scale, revealed with 15 N isotopic techniques. *Soil Biology* and Biochemistry, 38(5), 941-951.
- Maurer, D. L., Koziel, J. A., & Bruning, K. (2017). Field scale measurement of greenhouse gas emissions from land applied swine manure. *Frontiers of Environmental Science & Engineering*, 11(3), 1.
- McDowell, L., & McGregor, K. (1984). Plant nutrient losses in runoff from conservation tillage corn. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 4(1), 79-91.
- Meisinger, J., & Jokela, W. (2000). Ammonia volatilization from dairy and poultry manure. *Managing nutrients and pathogens from animal agriculture*. NRAES-130. Ithaca, NY: Natural Resource, Agriculture, and Engineering Service.

- Miller, J., Beasley, B., Drury, C., Larney, F., & Hao, X. (2017). Surface soil salinity and soluble salts after 15 applications of composted or stockpiled manure with straw or wood-chips. *Compost Science & Utilization*, 25(1), 36-47.
- Miller, J., Beasley, B., Drury, C., & Zebarth, B. (2010). Available nitrogen and phosphorus in soil amended with fresh or composted cattle manure containing straw or wood-chip bedding. *Canadian Journal of Soil Science*, *90*(2), 341-354.
- Miller, J. J., Beasley, B., Drury, C., Hao, X., & Larney, F. (2014). Soil properties following long-term application of stockpiled feedlot manure containing straw or wood-chip bedding under barley silage production. *Canadian Journal of Soil Science*, 94(3), 389-402.
- Miller, J. J., Beasley, B. W., Drury, C., & Zebarth, B. (2009). Barley yield and nutrient uptake for soil amended with fresh and composted cattle manure. *Agronomy Journal*, *101*(5), 1047-1059.
- Miller, J. J., Beasley, B. W., Drury, C. F., & Zebarth, B. J. (2012). Denitrification during the growing season as influenced by long-term application of composted versus fresh feedlot manure. *Canadian Journal of Soil Science*, *92*(6), 865-882.
- Miola, E. C., Rochette, P., Chantigny, M. H., Angers, D. A., Aita, C., Gasser, M.-O., ... Bertrand, N. (2014). Ammonia volatilization after surface application of layinghen and broiler-chicken manures. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 43(6), 1864-1872.
- Misselbrook, T., & Powell, J. M. (2005). Influence of bedding material on ammonia emissions from cattle excreta. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 88(12), 4304-4312.
- Misselbrook, T., Van Der Weerden, T., Pain, B., Jarvis, S., Chambers, B., Smith, K., . . . Demmers, T. (2000). Ammonia emission factors for UK agriculture. *Atmospheric Environment*, *34*(6), 871-880.
- Mitsch, W. J., Day Jr, J. W., Gilliam, J. W., Groffman, P. M., Hey, D. L., Randall, G. W., & Wang, N. (2001). Reducing Nitrogen Loading to the Gulf of Mexico from the Mississippi River Basin: Strategies to Counter a Persistent Ecological Problem: Ecotechnology—the use of natural ecosystems to solve environmental problems—should be a part of efforts to shrink the zone of hypoxia in the Gulf of Mexico. *BioScience*, *51*(5), 373-388.
- Mobley, H., & Hausinger, R. (1989). Microbial ureases: significance, regulation, and molecular characterization. *Microbiological Reviews*, 53(1), 85-108.
- Mosier, A. R., & Klemedtsson, L. (1994). Measuring Denitrification in the Field. In P. S. Bottomley, J. S. Angle, & R. W. Weaver (Eds.), Methods of Soil Analysis: Part 2—*Microbiological and Biochemical Properties* (pp. 1047-1065). Madison, WI: Soil Science Society of America.
- Mosier, A., Syers, J. K., & Freney, J. R. (2004). Nitrogen Fertilizer: An Essential Component of Increased Food, Feed, and Fiber Production. In A. Mosier, J. K. Syers, & J. R. Freney (Eds.), *Agriculture and the Nitrogen Cycle: Assessing the*

Impacts of Fertilizer Use on Food Production and the Environment (Vol. 65, pp. 3-15). Retrieved from http://books.google.com.

- NCERA-13. (2015). *Recommended chemical soil test procedures for the North Central Region* (NCRR-221, Revised). Retrieved from North Central Extension Research Activities website: http://extension.missouri.edu/explorepdf/specialb/sb1001.pdf.
- Ndayegamiye, A., & Cote, D. (1989). Effect of long-term pig slurry and solid cattle manure application on soil chemical and biological properties. *Canadian Journal of Soil Science*, 69(1), 39-47.
- Nielsen, V., Voorburg, J., & L'Hermite, P. (Eds.). (2003). *Odour and ammonia emissions from livestock farming*. London, England: Elsevier Applied Science Publishers.
- Ohyama, T. (2010). Nitrogen as a major essential element of plants. In T. Ohyama & K. Sueyoshi (Eds.), *Nitrogen Assimilation in Plants* (pp. 1-18). Kerala, India: Research Signpost.
- Paramasivam, S., Jayaraman, K., Wilson, T. C., Alva, A. K., Kelson, L., & Jones, L. B. (2009). Ammonia volatilization loss from surface applied livestock manure. *Journal of Environmental Science and Health Part B*, 44(3), 317-324.
- Parkin, T. B., & Venterea, R. T. (2010). USDA-ARS GRACEnet project protocols, chapter 3. Chamber-based trace gas flux measurements. *Sampling protocols*. *Beltsville, MD p*, 1-39.
- Paul, J., & Beauchamp, E. G. (1993). Nitrogen availability for corn in soils amended with urea, cattle slurry, and solid and composted manures. *Canadian Journal of Soil Science*, 73(2), 253-266.
- Petrovic, A. M. (1990). The fate of nitrogenous fertilizers applied to turfgrass. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 19(1), 1-14.
- Piccini, C., Di Bene, C., Farina, R., Pennelli, B., & Napoli, R. (2016). Assessing nitrogen use efficiency and nitrogen loss in a forage-based system using a modeling approach. Agronomy, 6(2), 23.
- Pimentel, D., Harvey, C., Resosudarmo, P., Sinclair, K., Kurz, D., McNair, M., . . . Saffouri, R. (1995). Environmental and economic costs of soil erosion and conservation benefits. *Science-AAAS-Weekly Paper Edition*, 267(5201), 1117-1122.
- Pope III, C. A., & Dockery, D. W. (2006). Health effects of fine particulate air pollution: lines that connect. *Journal of the Air & Waste Management Association*, 56(6), 709-742.
- Pope III, C. A., Ezzati, M., & Dockery, D. W. (2009). Fine-particulate air pollution and life expectancy in the United States. *N Engl J Med*, 2009(360), 376-386.
- Powell, J., Jokela, W., & Misselbrook, T. (2011). Dairy slurry application method impacts ammonia emission and nitrate leaching in no-till corn silage. *Journal of environmental quality*, 40(2), 383-392.

- Powers, W., & Van Horn, H. (2001). Nutritional implications for manure nutrient management planning. *Applied Engineering in Agriculture*, 17(1), 27.
- Prokopy, L. S., Babin, N., & Towery, D. (2014). Adoption of agricultural conservation practices: Insights from research and practice (FNR-488-W). Retrieved from Forestry and Natural Resources, Purdue University website: https://www.extension.purdue.edu/extmedia/FNR/fnr-488-w.pdf.
- Provin, T., & Hossner, L. (2001). *What happens to nitrogen in soils* (E-59 6-01). Retrieved from Texas A&M Agrilife Extension website: http://soiltesting.tamu.edu/publications/E-59.pdf.
- Qian, P., & Schoenau, J. (2002). Availability of nitrogen in solid manure amendments with different C: N ratios. *Canadian Journal of Soil Science*, 82(2), 219-225.
- Rabalais, N. N., Turner, R. E., & Wiseman, W. J. (2001). Hypoxia in the Gulf of Mexico. *Journal of environmental quality*, 30(2), 320-329.
- Randall, G., & Vetsch, J. (2004). *Nitrate losses to tile drainage as affected by nitrogen fertilization of corn in a corn-soybean rotation*. Southern Research & Outreach Center, Waseca, MN: University of Minnesota.
- Randall, G. W., Huggins, D. R., Russelle, M. P., Fuchs, D. J., Nelson, W. W., & Anderson, J. L. (1997). Nitrate losses through subsurface Tile drainage in Conservation Reserve Program, Alfalfa, and Row Crop Systems. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 26(5), 1240-1247. doi: 10.2134/jeq1997.00472425002600050007x.
- Randall, G. W., & Mulla, D. J. (2001). Nitrate nitrogen in surface waters as influenced by climatic conditions and agricultural practices. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 30(2), 337-344.
- Reiman, M., Clay, D., Carlson, C., Clay, S., Reicks, G., Clay, D., & Humburg, D. (2008). Manure placement depth impacts on crop yields and N retained in soil. *Journal of Environmental Science and Health, Part B*, 44(1), 76-85.
- Ribaudo, M., Hansen, L., Livingston, M., Mosheim, R., Williamson, J., & Delgado, J. (2011). *Nitrogen in Agricultural Systems: Implications for Conservation Policy*. USDA-ERS Economic Research Report No. (ERR-127). Retrieved from Economic Research Service, United States Department of Agriculture website: https://www.ers.usda.gov/webdocs/publications/44918/6767_err127.pdf?v=41056
- Roberts, T., Kirkpatrick, W., Slaton, N., & Norman, R. (2015). *Estimating nutrient removal for row crops grown in Arkansas*. Retrieved from Division of Agriculture Research and Extension, University of Arkansas website: https://www.uaex.edu/publications/pdf/FSA-2176.pdf.
- Robertson, G., & Groffman, P. (2007). Nitrogen transformations. *Soil Microbiology, Ecology, and Biochemistry*, *3*, 341-364.
- Robertson, G. P. (1997). Nitrogen use efficiency in row-crop agriculture: crop nitrogen use and soil nitrogen loss. *Ecology in Agriculture*, 347-365.

- Robertson, G. P., Paul, E. A., & Harwood, R. R. (2000). Greenhouse gases in intensive agriculture: contributions of individual gases to the radiative forcing of the atmosphere. *Science*, 289(5486), 1922-1925.
- Rochette, P., Chantigny, M. H., Angers, D. A., Bertrand, N., & Côté, D. (2001). Ammonia volatilization and soil nitrogen dynamics following fall application of pig slurry on canola crop residues. *Canadian Journal of Soil Science*, 81(4), 515-523.
- Ross, S. M., Izaurralde, R. C., Janzen, H., Robertson, J., & McGill, W. B. (2008). The nitrogen balance of three long-term agroecosystems on a boreal soil in western Canada. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 127*(3), 241-250.
- Rotz, C. A., M. S. Corson, D. S. Chianese, F. Montes, S. D. Hafner, and C. U. Coiner. (2012). *The Integrated Farm System Model: Reference Manual Version 3.6*. University Park, PA: Pasture Systems and Watershed Management Research Unit, Agricultural Research Service, United States Department of Agriculture.
- Rotz, C. A., Montes, F., Hafner, S. D., Heber, A. J., & Grant, R. H. (2014). Ammonia emission model for whole farm evaluation of dairy production systems. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 43(4), 1143-1158.
- Sainju, U. M. (2017). Determination of nitrogen balance in agroecosystems. *MethodsX*, *4*, 199-208.
- Sainju, U. M., Lenssen, A. W., Allen, B. L., Stevens, W. B., & Jabro, J. D. (2017). Soil residual nitrogen under various crop rotations and cultural practices. *Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science*, 180(2), 187-198.
- SAS Institute Inc. (2011). Base SAS® 9.3 Procedures Guide: Statistical Procedures. Cary, NC: SAS Institute Inc.
- Schaefer, W. T. (2005). Soil survey of Brookings County, South Dakota.
- Schimel, J. P., & Bennett, J. (2004). Nitrogen mineralization: challenges of a changing paradigm. *Ecology*, 85(3), 591-602.
- Schlesinger, W. H. (2009). On the fate of anthropogenic nitrogen. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 106*(1), 203-208.
- Schuchman, P. (2010). *The fate of Nitrogenous fertilizer applied to differing Turfgrass systems* (master's thesis), State University of New York, Stony Brook, United States .
- Shaviv, A., & Mikkelsen, R. (1993). Controlled-release fertilizers to increase efficiency of nutrient use and minimize environmental degradation-A review. *Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems*, 35(1), 1-12.
- Shober, A. L. (2015). *Nitrogen cycling in agriculture* [Fact sheet]. Retrieved from University of Delaware extension website: http://extension.udel.edu/factsheets/nitrogen-cycling-in-agriculture/

- Sintermann, J., Neftel, A., Ammann, C., Häni, C., Hensen, A., Loubet, B., & Flechard, C. (2012). Are ammonia emissions from field-applied slurry substantially overestimated in European emission inventories? *Biogeosciences*, *9*(5), 1611-1632.
- Smil, V. (1999). Nitrogen in crop production: An account of global flows. Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 13(2), 647-662.
- Smith, D., Owens, P., Leytem, A., & Warnemuende, E. (2007). Nutrient losses from manure and fertilizer applications as impacted by time to first runoff event. *Environmental Pollution*, 147(1), 131-137.
- Smith, K., & Chambers, B. (1993). Utilizing the nitrogen content of organic manures on farms—problems and practical solutions. *Soil Use and Management*, 9(3), 105-111.
- Smith, K. L., & Hogan, J. (2006, January). Bedding counts in manure solids. Paper presented at the 45th annual meeting of the National Mastitis Council, Tampa, FL, Jan. 22 – 25, 2006.
- Sommer, S. G., & Hutchings, N. (2001). Ammonia emission from field applied manure and its reduction. *European Journal of Agronomy*, 15(1), 1-15.
- Stevenson, F. J., & Cole, M. A. (1999). Cycles of soils: Carbon, Nitrogen, Phosphorus, Sulfur, Micronutrients: Urbana-Champaign, Illinois: John Wiley & Sons.
- Sullivan, D. M., & Andrews, N. (2012). Estimating plant-available nitrogen release from cover crops (PNW 636). Retrieved from https://catalog.extension.oregonstate.edu/sites/catalog/files/project/pdf/pnw636.pd f.
- Sutton, A. L. (1994). Proper animal manure utilization. *Journal of Soil and Water Conservation, 49*(2), 65.
- Thapa, R., Chatterjee, A., Johnson, J. M., & Awale, R. (2015). Stabilized nitrogen fertilizers and application rate influence nitrogen losses under rainfed spring wheat. Agronomy Journal, 107(5), 1885-1894.
- Tilman, D., Cassman, K. G., Matson, P. A., Naylor, R., & Polasky, S. (2002). Agricultural sustainability and intensive production practices. *Nature*, 418(6898), 671.
- U.S. Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service. (2016). *Effects* of conservation practice adoption on cultivated cropland acres in Western Lake Erie Basin, 2003-06 and 2012 (Report). Washington, DC: United States Natural Resources Conservation Service. Retrieved from https://www.nrcs.usda.gov/Internet/FSE_DOCUMENTS/nrcseprd889806.pdf
- Udawatta, R. P., Motavalli, P. P., Garrett, H. E., & Krstansky, J. J. (2006). Nitrogen losses in runoff from three adjacent agricultural watersheds with claypan soils. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 117*(1), 39-48.
- Uri, N. D. (2000). Conservation practices in US agriculture and their implication for global climate change. *Science of the Total Environment*, 256(1), 23-38.

- Van Es, H. M., Sogbedji, J. M., & Schindelbeck, R. R. (2006). Effect of manure application timing, crop, and soil type on nitrate leaching. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 35(2), 670-679.
- Van Faassen, H. G., & Van Dijk, H. (1987). Manure as a source of nitrogen and phosphorus in soils. In H. G. Van Der Meer, R. J. Unwin, T. A. Van Dijk, & G. C. Ennik (Eds.), Animal Manure on Grassland and Fodder Crops. Fertilizer or Waste (pp. 27-45). Dordrecht, Netherlands: Springer.
- Van Grinsven, H. J., Bouwman, L., Cassman, K. G., van Es, H. M., McCrackin, M. L., & Beusen, A. H. (2015). Losses of ammonia and nitrate from agriculture and their effect on nitrogen recovery in the European Union and the United States between 1900 and 2050. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 44(2), 356-367.
- Venterea, R. T. (2013). Theoretical comparison of advanced methods for calculating nitrous oxide fluxes using non-steady state chambers. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 77(3), 709-720.
- Venterea, R. T., Dolan, M. S., & Ochsner, T. E. (2010). Urea decreases nitrous oxide emissions compared with anhydrous ammonia in a Minnesota corn cropping system. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 74(2), 407-418.
- Vitousek, P. M., Aber, J. D., Howarth, R. W., Likens, G. E., Matson, P. A., Schindler, D. W., . . . Tilman, D. G. (1997). Human alteration of the global nitrogen cycle: sources and consequences. *Ecological Applications*, 7(3), 737-750.
- Voss, R., Hanway, J., & Dumenil, L. (1970). Relationship between grain yield and leaf N, P, and K concentrations for corn (Zea mays L.) and the factors that influence this relationship. *Agronomy Journal*, 62(6), 726-728.
- Webb, J., Pain, B., Bittman, S., & Morgan, J. (2010). The impacts of manure application methods on emissions of ammonia, nitrous oxide and on crop response—a review. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 137(1), 39-46.
- Williams, M., Feyereisen, G., Beegle, D., & Shannon, R. (2012). Soil temperature regulates nitrogen loss from lysimeters following fall and winter manure application. *Trans. ASABE*, 55(3), 861-870.
- Wood, B. H., Wood, C. W., Yoo, K. H., Yoon, K. S., & Delaney, D. P. (1996). Nutrient accumulation and nitrate leaching under broiler litter amended corn fields. *Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis*, 27(15-17), 2875-2894. doi: 10.1080/00103629609369747
- Wu, S.-Y., Hu, J.-L., Zhang, Y., & Aneja, V. P. (2008). Modeling atmospheric transport and fate of ammonia in North Carolina—Part II: Effect of ammonia emissions on fine particulate matter formation. *Atmospheric Environment*, 42(14), 3437-3451.
- Wyland, L. J., Jackson, L. E., Chaney, W. E., Klonsky, K., Koike, S. T., & Kimple, B. (1996). Winter cover crops in a vegetable cropping system: Impacts on nitrate leaching, soil water, crop yield, pests and management costs. *Agriculture*, *Ecosystems & Environment*, 59(1), 1-17. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/0167-8809(96)01048-1

- Yao, Z., Zheng, X., Xie, B., Liu, C., Mei, B., Dong, H., ... Zhu, J. (2009). Comparison of manual and automated chambers for field measurements of N2O, CH4, CO2 fluxes from cultivated land. *Atmospheric Environment*, 43(11), 1888-1896. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2008.12.031
- Zehnder, C., DiCostanzo, A., Thate, K., Gilland, R., Murphy, M., & Halbach, T. (2000). Health and environmental implications of using composted household and yard waste bedding in a cattle feedlot. *Journal of Animal Science*, *78*(3), 495-503.
- Zhu, Y., & Fox, R. (2003). Corn–soybean rotation effects on nitrate leaching. *Agronomy Journal*, *95*(4), 1028-1033.